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SECTION 1: Authority Membership 2019/20 Financial Year
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A Brook (Member from 07/06/2019) L Frost (Member from 07/06/2019)

A Stephenson (Member from 07/06/2019)
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Chair
Councillor P Kirton (Stockton on Tees BC) From 07/06/2020

The Authority is made up of 16 members who are appointed in proportion to the number of local government electors in

each Authority area.

Councillors

Councillor J O'Donnell (Stockton on Tees BC)
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SECTION 2: Narrative Report

INTRODUCTION 

The narrative report aims to provide information so that members of the public, Authority Members, partners, 
stakeholders and other interested parties are able to have: 

 A full and understandable explanation of the overarching financial position of the Authority and the outturn 
for 2019/20; 

 Confidence that the public money with which the Authority has been entrusted has been used and 
accounted for in an appropriate manner; 

 Assurance that the financial position of the Authority is sound and secure. 

This narrative report provides information about the Authority, including the key issues affecting the Authority and 
its accounts.  It also provides a summary of the financial position at 31 March 2020 and covers the following 
areas: 

 Our Operating Context 
 Our Strategy, Objectives and Performance 
 Our Governance and Decision Making 
 Our Organisational Model 
 Our Risk Management Arrangements 
 Financial Performance 2019/20 
 Financial Outlook 2020/21 to 2022/23 
 Borrowing Facilities and Investment Strategy 
 Pensions  
 Statement of Accounts 

OUR OPERATING CONTEXT 

Cleveland Fire Brigade is located in north east England and provides services to a small area containing the four 
boroughs of Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Redcar and Cleveland and Stockton. The area is 231 square miles with a 
population of 566,1501, occupying 249,2212 dwellings. It is the seventh most densely populated fire authority area 
in England with only the Metropolitan Fire & Rescue Services (FRSs) being more densely populated. Teesside is 
home to 15,6433 industrial and commercial premises. 

We have 29 Top Tier Control of Major Accident Hazard (COMAH) sites located in the area which account for 9% of 
the national number of COMAH sites. Some of our dwellings are in extremely close proximity to these high hazard 
industries thereby making the risks they face more unique. 

Teesport handles over 5,000 vessels and 40 million tonnes of cargo a year, making it one of the largest UK ports 
in terms of tonnage4. 

We have 5 power stations (1 nuclear fuelled and 4 bio-mass fuelled), 7 solar powered energy farms, 12 onshore 
and 1 offshore windfarm; and two bio-mass (wood pellets) power stations are being constructed at Port Clarence 
and Tees Port to produce electricity for the national grid. The demand to build renewable energy sources is 
expected to grow as Tees Valley has been awarded UK Government Care Status as a Centre for Offshore 
Renewable Engineering5.  

Like the majority of UK FRSs we have an extensive network of road and rail but due to the nature of commerce in 
Teesside our transportation conveys many significant hazards. Where the A19 crosses the Tees it carries over 
96,000 vehicles per day which is 123% more than the number of vehicles using the A1M at the equivalent point. 

Teesside shares many inner city type problems that are a key feature of the UK’s Metropolitan areas such as older 
nineteenth century low cost housing (terraced), derelict land, high unemployment, congestion, high density of 
buildings and narrow roadways – not fit for modern usage.  

Our 82 wards include the 2nd most deprived ward nationally (North Ormseby) with 38% (30) falling within the 
10% most deprived wards nationally. 41% of the area’s population reside in the most (10%) deprived wards with 
more than half of the population (57%) living in wards that are in the 20% most deprived wards nationally. Over a 
third of our dwellings are social housing with almost two thirds of households in council tax bands A or B compared 
to less than half nationally.  All four boroughs have a higher proportion of children living in low income families 
than the average for England and Wales.   

1 ONS Mid-Term Estimates 2017 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/council-taxbase-2016-in-England 
3 CFB, CFRMIS 
4 http://www.pdports.co.uk/en/our-locations/teesport/ 
5 Investment inTees Valley, 2016. https://teesvalley-ca.gov.uk
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SECTION 2: Narrative Report

The crime rate in the Cleveland Police area is 101 per 1,000 households compared to the national average of 78. 
The only two Police areas to experience higher rates of crime than Cleveland are Greater Manchester (122) and 

West Yorkshire (116)6.  There are high levels of antisocial behaviour and deliberate fires, with Cleveland suffering 

from the highest arson rates in the country. This is reflected in attacks that our firefighters have been subjected to 
whilst responding to operational incidents. Over the five years up to 2017/18 the Brigade’s personnel suffered 
more than double the national average of attacks (2017/18 – 20.7 nationally compared to 46 for Cleveland Fire 
Brigade).  

Risk factors such as, deprivation, poor health and life expectancy is significantly lower than the England average 
and 29.1% of the population in the area are classed as disabled or having long term health issues, low education 
attainment (lower than the England average); high unemployment (higher than the national average) and limited 
opportunity for social mobility, play a key part in the composition of our area with research demonstrating that 
higher deprived areas have higher risk from fire. 

Full details of our operating environment are set out in our Community Risk Profile document available from our 
website7.   

OUR STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE  

Our vision is that we have built a sustainable future and:

 made a positive difference to the safety and quality of life of every local citizen; and the places where they 
live and work;

 delivered services by people who are professional, proud and passionate;

 are nationally recognised as being high performing and innovative; and internationally renowned for being 
able to reduce risk in business, industry and the home.

Our vision is underpinned by three strategic goals, 8 

strategic objectives and 17 strategic outcomes, as set out in 

our Community Integrated Risk Management Plan (CIRMP) 

2018-2022. 

The CIRMP sets out the strategic direction, the assessment 

of risks faced by the Brigade, our financial position and the 

intended deployment of resources over the medium term to 

address the identified risks.

6http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepolulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/policeforceareadatatablesyearendingMarch2017

7https://www.clevelandfire.gov.uk/download/community-risk-profile/

Our performance was independently assessed by HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services).  This assessment examined 

the service’s effectiveness, efficiency and how well it looks after its people. It is designed to 

give the public information about how their local fire and rescue service is performing in several 

important areas, in a way that is comparable with other services across England.  HMICFC

rated our services ‘good’ for all the three assessment criteria. 

4



SECTION 2: Narrative Report

Our Performance 

2019-2020 

Rated Good
for  

Effectiveness, 
Efficiency &

People 

Rated Compliant

National Resilience

Mass 
Decontamination 

Audit  

T S A B  

Safeguarding 
Quality Assurance 

Assessment  
Rated Assured 

Home Fire Safety 
Visits 

17,293 completed 
including  

3,071 Safe & Well 
Visits 

Response Times 
2018/19 

One of the Fastest in 
the country to 

Primary & Dwelling 
Fires 

Fire Inspection 

Audits Completed 

1,551  
Increase of 4% (+59) 

Accidental Dwelling 

Fires 

155  
Increase 37% (+42) 

Health & Safety Road Traffic 

Collisions

Accident causing Injury 
16 

Increase 700% (+14) 
324 

Increase 1% (+3) 
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SECTION 2: Narrative Report

Non Domestic 

Unwanted Fire 

Signals 

Reduced by  
6% 

Total Incidents 
Attended  

8,638 
1.43% (-114) 
Reduction 

Staff Sickness 
All Staff 

9.88  
(average shifts lost pp) 

18% (1.53pp) Increase 

Violence to Staff 
46  

10% (+4) Increase 

Total Calls Received 
by  

Fire Control 
12,627 

0.2% (+29) Increase 

Deliberate 
Primary Fires 

444 
14% (+56)

Increase 

Deliberate 
Secondary Fires

3279 
0.3% (+10) 
Increase 

Fire Fatalities: 4 
33% (+1) Increase 

Fire Injuries: 16 
60% (+6) Increase

96% Operational 

Staff have completed 

Fitness Assessments 
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SECTION 2: Narrative Report

OUR GOVERNANCE AND DECISION MAKING

Cleveland Fire Authority has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to conduct business in accordance with 
the law ensuring public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. We are committed to the highest standards of conduct and have robust controls over the use of 
resources, based on open decision making, accountability and transparency. 

The Brigade takes decisions every day that impacts businesses, our residents and visitors to our area.  Our 
Constitution details how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are 
efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.   

The most significant decisions relating to our plans and strategies, such as setting and agreeing the CIRMP, setting 
the budget and Council Tax level, are taken by the Cleveland Fire Authority. Other decisions are delegated to the 
Executive Committee with operational management decisions, as well as decisions in respect of functions which 
require professional officer training and skills, delegated to Officers in accordance with our approved scheme of 
delegation. 

In 2019/20 Cleveland Fire Authority was made up of 16 Elected Members from the four councils of Hartlepool, 
Middlesbrough, Redcar & Cleveland and Stockton in the Authority Area. The membership from each of the four 
Councils is based on their population and is politically balanced to reflect the make-up of the Councils. In 2019/20 
the membership was;  

Hartlepool 3 Members  1 Labour, 1 independent, 1 Socialist Labour 

Middlesbrough 4 Members 
2 Labour, 2 Middlesbrough Independent 
Councillors Association  

Redcar & Cleveland  4 Members 
2 Labour, 1 Independent,  
1 Liberal Democrat 

Stockton 5 Members 
2 Labour, 1 Conservative, 1 Independent, 1 
Thornaby Independent Association 

Our governance framework comprises systems, processes, culture and values by which the Authority directs and 
controls its activities through which it is accountable for and engages with the community.  The Authority has 
approved and adopted a code of corporate governance which encompasses the guidance and best practice outlined in 
the “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework’ (2016 edition) which is published by CIPFA and 
SOLACE.   

Corporate governance services are provided to the Fire Authority through the role of a Legal Adviser/Monitoring 
Officer and a Service Level Agreement with Hartlepool Borough Council for the provision of a financial governance 
function that includes the role of the Treasurer and an internal audit function.  

Our commissioned Internal Audit function provides challenge and assurance over the effectiveness of our risk 
management, internal control and governance arrangements. The function supports, provides advice and 
challenges management to assist the development of robust systems of control, policies and procedures to ensure 
the best use of resources. They cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  

Our External Auditors (Mazars) work closely with our Internal Audit function.  Internal Audit carries out its role in 
compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  Our Annual Governance Statement reviews the extent to 
which the Authority has complied with its code of corporate governance and also meets the requirements of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which requires the Authority to conduct a review at least once a 
year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control and include a statement reporting on the review within 
the statement of accounts. The outcome of the annual review is incorporated within our Performance Management 
arrangements and is reported to Elected Members of the Audit and Governance Committee. 

OUR ORGANISATIONAL MODEL 

The Chief Fire Officer is responsible for the achievement of the Authority's Strategic Goals through the delivery of 
strategies and plans, and is supported by the Executive Leadership Team of senior managers. 
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SECTION 2: Narrative Report

Community Protection Directorate 
Our public facing and frontline service delivery Directorate that co-ordinates and delivers our Prevention, 
Protection, Emergency Response and National Resilience services and functions.  

Corporate Services Directorate 
The directorate that delivers our corporate enabling services that support the Authority and other Directorates in 
delivering their duties. Services include Democratic Services, Finance (including creditor payments and payroll), 
Procurement, Human Resources, Performance and Risk Management. 

Technical Services Directorate 
The directorate that delivers our technical enabling services that support all Directorates in delivering their duties. 
Services include Health & Safety, Fleet, ICT, Workshops, Stores and Buildings including delivery of our Estates 
rebuild and refurbishment programme.  

Our frontline services are co-ordinated and delivered from Community Safety District Hubs and 14 strategically placed 
Community Fire Stations. Delivery of services is through a balanced strategy of prevention, protection and emergency 
response. 

 Prevention work takes many forms, from home fire safety visits, safe and well visits, marketing, advice and 
education through to involving the community in helping to design and deliver our services. 

 Protection activities involve advising individuals and businesses on how to keep safe and their risk management 
responsibilities, so that buildings are safer. In addition fire safety regulations are enforced where necessary. 

 Where and when emergency incidents still occur, they are responded to using modern methods, appliances and 
equipment. The Brigade operates one of the most stringent emergency response standards nationally and the 
latest information indicates that the Brigade has the fastest average actual response times to primary fire incidents 
in the country.  

The Government's aim is to reduce the risk from major emergencies such as natural disasters or terrorist attacks 
so that people can go about their business freely and with the confidence that the UK is equipped to deal with such 
incidents. The Brigade plays an integral part in ensuring National Resilience and is 100% compliant with the 
Governments requirements in supporting national resilience. We are an active member and maintain strong links 
with other category 1 responders through the Cleveland Local Resilience Forum 

OUR RISK MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 

The National Framework for Fire and Rescue Services in England (2018) identifies and places a number of 
requirements on all Fire Rescue Authority’s to comply with, one of which being;  

‘Identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks their area face’

Our Community Integrated Risk Management Plan (CIRMP) sets out the strategic direction, summarises 
assessment of risks faced by the Brigade, our financial position and the intended deployment of resources over the 
medium term to address the identified risks. 

The Authority area and its communities face a complex profile of risks and thus we have for a long time recognised the 
need for, and reaped the benefits from having effective and robust Risk Management arrangements that ensure the 
safety of our workforce, residents and businesses within the Brigade’s area.   

Based on our operating environment, historical incidents data and information from a multitude of other sources 
(internal and external to the Brigade) we develop a Community Risk Profile that identifies and assesses the risks facing 
the Brigade and classifies them in the following groups;  

 The built environment  
 The transport infrastructure serving the area  
 The industry within our area  
 Neighbourhoods and the environment  
 National Resilience  
 Community Health and Well Being  

Each of the identified risk groups is assessed against the likelihood of the event occurring and the associated 
consequences/impacts if it does occur. Our assessment looks to identify who/what is at risk, when they are at risk 
and where they are at risk. The assessment includes an assessment of risk in terms of: 

 People (Community) safety 
 Firefighter safety 
 Property 
 Heritage  

8



SECTION 2: Narrative Report

 Environment 
 Value for Money 

This information is provided at a detailed level within our available Community Risk Profile and is underpinned by a 
suite of detailed risk assessments that are refreshed on an annual basis.  

Our Corporate Risks are identified and addressed through our Corporate Risk Register (CRR) that articulates and 
quantifies each individual risk. Risks are scored in the context of the likelihood and impact of the risks. Control 
measures are identified to address the risks and the CRR is reviewed at regular points during the year. 

To ensure our risk management governance arrangements remain effective and efficient, the Brigade benchmarks 
and assesses arrangements on an annual basis through ALARM (The Public Risk Management Association) and 
CIPFA (The Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy).  

We ensure that we regularly review all of our risks to provide assurance that our management of risk is effective. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2019/20 

The Authority spends money on a wide range of services to promote fire safety, protect people and property from 
fire, rescue people from road traffic collisions, deal with other emergencies such as flooding or terrorist attack, 
work with other organisations to develop and implement emergency and business continuity plans. This spending 
can be Revenue on day to day running costs such as staffing, purchasing goods/services from third parties and 
utilities; or Capital on assets which are used for service delivery over a longer period, such as buildings and 
operational vehicles. 

The following sections provide more detail about the Authority’s financial position. 

2019/20 Approved Revenue Budget  

The Authority prepared a four year financial strategy covering 2016/17 to 2019/20, which provided the financial 
planning limits for our Community Integrated Risk Management Plan. This is the same period covered by the four 
year grant settlement provided by the Government.  In relation to 2019/20 the financial strategy reflected a 
further reduction in the amount of Government funding received by the Authority of £0.315m, a reduction of 
2.5%.  This was the eighth successive annual reduction in Government funding. 

The system operated up to 2010/11 by the Government for allocating funding to individual Fire and Rescue 
Authorities reflected the needs of each area and the ability to raise income locally from Council Tax.    However, 
over the last eight years these factors have not been recognised to the same extent.  As a result, the Authority 
has suffered disproportionate spending power cuts owing to Government funding reductions.  Further changes to 
the national funding system were made in 2013/14 and the Government funding received by the Authority in 
2019/20 is £6m less than in 2013/14; which is a reduction of 32%. 

In addition to the 2019/20 Government grant cut the Authority faced continuing inflationary pressures and 
increased pay pressures arising from the unfunded national pay awards.  To address the resulting 2019/20 budget 
deficit of £1.424m, the Authority made budget cuts of £0.671m, built in additional Council Tax income from 
housing growth of £0.170m and allocated one off resources of £0.253m to provide a longer lead time to 
implement further budget reductions in 2020/21. 

To address the remaining deficit the Authority increased Council Tax by 2.9% in line with the Government’s 
Council Tax Referendum limit, which provided additional recurring funding of £0.330m.  

Revenue Budget 2019/20 – Actual Outturn  

In response to the Authority's ongoing financial challenges the Chief Fire Officer continued to carefully manage 
resources during 2019/20 and a year-end under spend of £0.411m was achieved.  This was slightly lower than the 
forecast underspend of £0.450m.   The underspend has been added to the Budget Support Fund reserve, which is 
earmarked to help manage the significant potential financial risks facing the Authority in 2020/21 and future years 
in relation to pay/non-pay inflation and further potential Government grant cuts.    

Our Medium Term Financial Strategy, which was approved in February 2020, included a review of the Authority’s 
reserves and recognises that using one-off resources will not provide a permanent solution to address further 
recurring Government grant cuts and inflation pressures.  However, as funding for 2021/22 is uncertain, and will 
not be known until late 2020, our reserves strategy provides temporary financial flexibility to manage these 
potential financial risks.  
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SECTION 2: Narrative Report

The outturn position is summarised in the following table, which shows that in addition to the contribution to the 
Budget Support Fund we made the following contributions to specific reserves: 

 Collection Fund Deficit Reserve of £0.400m – the COVID pandemic will increase the number of households 
eligible for Local Council Tax Support and this will reduce the Council Tax income received by the 
Authority for 2020/21.  National accounting regulations delay the impact of this shortfall until 2021/22 
and this reserve is designed to protect the Authority’s financial position if the Government does not 
provide grant funding to support FRS’s, which will all face these income losses.  

Approved Actual Variance 

Budget Expenditure/ from approved

(Income) Budget

Adverse / 

(Favourable)

£'000 £'000 £'000

23,591 22,778 (813)

Premises Costs 2,082 2,023 (59)

Supplies & Services 2,088 2,265 177 

Transport Costs 810 791 (19)

Support Services 358 385 27 

838 838 -  

Income / Grants (1,234) (1,112) 122 

Levy Account Income -  (31) (31)

Section 31 Grant (1,625) (1,874) (249)

Contribution from Reserves

Pension Reserve (55) (55) -  

(141) (141) -  

Stockton Refurbishment Reserve (173) (173) -  

Guisborough Refurbishment Reserve (24) (24) -  

Loftus Refurbishment Reserve (42) (42) -  

BSF (113) (113) -  

CARP R&M Reserve (75) (75) -  

Asset Surveys Reserve (20) (20) -  

Contribution to Reserves

Collection Fund Deficit -  400 400 

Ringfenced Grants -  34 34 

Total 26,265 25,854 (411)

The Authority's budget was funded from the following sources:

£'000 %

Government Grant 5,239 20%

Business Rates Top Up Grant 7,315 28%

Total Government Grants 12,554 48%

Income from Council Tax Precept 11,868 45%

Income from Business Rates Baseline Funding 1,833 7%

Collection Fund Surplus 10 0%

Total Funding 26,265 100%

Operational Costs

Employee Costs

Capital Financing Costs

Levy Account Reserve

Approved Budget
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Capital Expenditure 

Capital expenditure relates to spend on the purchase or improvement of assets that have a long-term value to the 
Authority and our residents, such as Community Fire Stations and fire appliances.  

In 2019/20 total capital expenditure was £2.110m.  £1.602m of this was property expenditure, which included the 
completion of Guisborough Fire Station and Loftus Fire Station and on-going works at Queens Meadow Training 
Centre and Stockton Fire Station.  In-year expenditure also included the completion of two water tenders at a cost 
of £0.272m, equipment of £0.210m, a boat at a cost of £0.011m and the purchase of a new vehicle at a cost of 
£0.015m.  These costs were funded from a combination of Capital Receipts £0.271m, Prudential Borrowing of 
£0.507m, government grant of £0.011m and use of £1.321m of the Capital Investment Programme Reserve.   

As at 31 March 2020, the Authority had rephased capital expenditure totalling £0.810m into 2020/21. This will be 
funded from the Capital Investment Programme £0.413m and Prudential Borrowing £0.397m. 

FINANCIAL OUTLOOK - REVENUE BUDGET 2020/21 to 2022/23   

The Government has delayed major reforms of the national funding system, i.e. Fair Funding Review and increase 
in Business Rates Retention from 50% to 75% from 2020/21 to 2022/23.  As a result the Government provided a 
one year grant funding settlement for 2020/21 and this provided Government funding of £12.887m – an increase 
of £0.333m from 2019/20, which equates to an increase of 2.7%.  Despite this increase the level of Government 
funding in 2020/21 is still £5.667m less than in 2013/14 - which is a reduction of 30%.  The Authority balanced 
the budget for 2020/21 through a combination of implementing efficiencies savings on external contracts of 
£0.221m, additional Council Tax income from forecast housing growth of £0.170m and increasing Council Tax by 
1.9%, which raised additional recurring income of £0.237m.  The Council Tax increase was slightly below the 
Government’s referendum limit of 2%. 

The Covid pandemic will impact on the financial position of the Authority and the Government has provided the 
Authority with grant funding of £0.587m towards these costs. The actual costs are not yet known and the position 
will continue to be monitored extremely carefully as any shortfall in Government funding will have to be funded 
from the Authority’s own resources.  Our plans have recognised the economic impact of the pandemic on forecast 
2020/21 Council Tax income and a reserve of £0.400m has been set aside to mitigate the risk that the 
Government does not provide sufficient grant funding to offset this income loss which will have to be accounted for 
when the budget for 2021/22 is set.    

The financial outlook for 2021/22 and future years is extremely uncertain and will be affected by:  

 decisions the Government makes in the next Spending Review, which will determine the level of funding 
for individual Government departments, including the Home Office which allocates funding to Fire and 
Rescue Authorities; 

 proposed changes to the national funding formula used to distribute Government funding to Fire and 
Rescue Authorities. In 2020/21 the Authority will receive £12.758m of funding under these arrangements.  
This makes up 47% of the Authority’s resources, therefore the arrangements the Government implements 
in 2021/22 will be critical for the Authority;  

 the proposed increase in Business Rates income retained by Local Authorities and Fire and Rescue 
Authorities from 50% to 75%; 

 the level of future Council Tax referendum limits set by the Government; 

 the level of pay awards and the outcome of national negotiations regarding ‘broadening the role’ of 
firefighter and how the costs of any proposed changes are funded;  

 funding arrangements for the nationally determined increase in employers pension contributions for fire 
fighters implemented in April 2019, which increases the Authority’s recurring costs by approximately 
£1.544m.  In 2020/21 the Government has provided a one off grant to fund the majority of these costs 
and indicated that the grant may be phased out over three years commencing 2021/22.  

In response to the financial uncertainties and risks facing the Authority a Budget Support Fund of £4.533m has 
been allocated to help manage these risks.  The Authority recognises that using one off funding is not a permanent 
solution to address recurring cuts in Government Funding or recurring expenditure pressures.  However, as the 
position in relation to funding for 2021/22 may not be known until late in 2020, the Authority may need to use the 
Budget Support Fund to provide a slightly longer lead time to make further recurring budget reductions.    
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The Authority has forecast a range of planning assumptions for 2021/22 to 2022/23 and instructed the Chief Fire 
Officer to develop a contingency savings plan to set out the impact of delivering further budget reductions of 
between £0.446m and £2.717m by the start of financial year 2022/23.  These reductions equate to between 1.6% 
and 10% of the 2020/21 budget. 

BORROWING FACILITIES AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

The Authority’s arrangements for borrowing accord with the approved Treasury Management Strategy, which was 
drawn up to comply with the Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities published by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 

In accordance with this strategy the Authority has taken a proactive approach to managing cash investments and 
debt.  For a number of years the Authority has internalised borrowing by netting down borrowing against 
investments.  However interest rates have fallen to a historically low level, which the Authority has taken 
advantage of to secure financing in relation to business cases.  The Authority has also used these historically low 
rates to reduce interest rate risk in relation to some existing capital expenditure previously temporarily funded by 
internalising borrowing. 

The interest earned on Authority’s investments remained low during 2019/20, this has been mitigated by low 
interest costs on the Authority’s borrowings.  

PENSIONS

The Authority has accounted for retirement benefits according to International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 
IAS 19.  As at 31 March 2020 the Accounts showed that there was a deficit on the Pensions Reserve of £457.796m 
(£488.827m in 2018/19).  This was offset by a Pensions Liability of the same value. The Authority has separate 
pension arrangements for Fire Fighters and other staff as outlined below.   

Fire Fighter Pension Arrangements 

The Fire Fighters Pension Scheme is an unfunded scheme.  The Authority is required to maintain a separate Fire 
Fighters Pension Fund Account, details of which are provided in the Pension Fund Note. 

The Authority is required to make defined contributions to the Pension Account, currently 37.3% for Fire Fighters 
who are members of either the 1992 Pension Scheme or the Modified Pension Scheme, 27.4% for those who are 
members of the 2006 Pension Scheme and 28.8% for those who are members of the 2015 Pension Scheme.  The 
Authority must also make defined contributions in respect of Ill Health retirements. 

As these contributions, plus employee contributions, are less than payments made from the Authority’s Pensions 
Account the Government provides a specific grant to fund the resulting shortfall. 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

Pensions for other staff are provided through the Local Government Pension Scheme and the Authority is a 
member of the Teesside Pension Fund.  The statutory arrangements for this scheme mean that the IAS19 deficit 
does not need to be made good by increased pension’s contributions from the Authority or employees.  A separate 
Pension Fund valuation is carried out every three years to determine the Authority’s contribution rate. The Pension 
Fund Valuation set the employer’s contribution rate for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 and resulted in a phased 
increase of 1.2%, plus annual lump sum payments over these three years totalling £0.160m. Provision for the 
additional cost has been made within the Authority’s budget plans. 

STATEMENTS OF ACCOUNTS 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

This statement shows the economic cost in the year of providing services in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise 
taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost.  The 
taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Balance Sheet 

The Balance Sheet shows the value of the assets and liabilities at 31 March 2020. The net assets of the Authority 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Authority. Reserves are classified in two 
categories. The first category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Authority may use to 
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provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their 
use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). 
The second category of reserves are those that the Authority is not able to use to provide services. This category 
of reserve includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing 
differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 'Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations.' 

The major movements on the Balance Sheet are as follows: 

Pension Reserve – the Authority’s unusable pension reserve has increased by £31.031m which is a result of 
revised actuarial revaluations. 

Short Term Investments – the Authority’s Short Term Investments have decreased by £5.705m due to less of 
the Authority’s cash being invested at the end of 2019/20.  Consequently the Cash and Cash Equivalents has 
increased by £6.137m. 

Property Plant & Equipment (PPE) – the Authority’s PPE has increased by £2.373m.  There was £2.110m 
capital expenditure, increase in the value of property of £1.237m and depreciation of £0.974m.  

Summary of the Authority’s Usable Reserves 

At the 31 March 2020 the Authority had reserves of £9.755m (£10.837m as at 31 March 2019), which consisted 
of the following amounts: 

- Earmarked Capital Reserves - £0.852m – these reserves are fully committed to supporting the approved 
Capital Investment Programme.   

- Budget Support Fund - £4.533m – this reserves earmarked to manage potential financial risks in 2020/21 and 
future years arising from a range of potential changes to future funding and the costs of providing services.  
There is also a risk that pay awards are higher than forecast, or an increase in employer’s pension 
contributions. 

- Earmarked Revenue Reserves - £2.818m – these reserves are fully committed to fund a range of one-off 
initiatives; 

- Unearmarked General Fund Reserve - £1.552m – the reserve is held to meet any unforeseen circumstances 
that may arise.  The value of this reserve reflects a risk assessment of potential financial risks facing the 
Authority and equates to approximately 6% of the Authority’s on-going revenue budget.  In view of the 
increasingly challenging financial position facing the Authority this level of uncommitted reserve is prudent. 

Analysis of Usable Reserves as at 31 March 2020 – Total £9.755m 

Unearmarked General Fund 
Balance £1.552m

Earmarked Capital 
Reserves £0.852m

Earmarked Revenue Reserves 
£2.818m

Budget Support 
Fund £4.533m
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Unusable Reserves as at 31st March 2020 are £427.965m (£461.418m at 31st March 2019).  The movement 
in Unusable Reserves is shown in Note 24, with the decrease in deficit largely attributable to the decrease in 
the Pension Reserve.  This is owing to the revised actuarial valuation. 

Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority during the reporting 
period. The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash 
flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating 
activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation 
and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the 
extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Authority's 
future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash 
flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. 

Group Statement of Accounts 

The Group Financial Statements consolidate the performance and balances that relate to the Authority’s 
subsidiary, Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services Community Interest Company (CIC), into the 
Authority’s statements.  This allows the full picture of Group activities to be presented. 

Cleveland Fire Authority established Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services CIC in March 2011 under 
the Local Government Authorities (Power to Trade) Order (2009) to commercially trade. 

The Company commenced operating in 2011/12 and has increased turnover on an annual basis by securing 
additional contracts.  Details are shown in Section 5, Group Accounts. 

CHANGES IN AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES 

There were no changes in the Authority’s statutory responsibilities during 2019/20. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies adopted by the Authority comply, except where specific reference is made, with relevant 
recommended accounting practice. 

The Authority’s policies are explained fully on pages 20 to 30.  For the purpose of the Statement of Accounts the 
Authority’s expenditure follows the standard classification recommended by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the comparative figures for 2018/19 have been shown where appropriate. 

INSPECTION OF ACCOUNTS 

Members of the public have a statutory right to inspect the accounts before the audit is completed, question the 
auditor and make objections at audit.  The availability of the accounts for inspection was advertised on Cleveland 
Fire Authority website and in relation to the 2019/20 financial year the inspection period was 1 July 2020 to 11 
August 2020. 

Chris Little CPFA 
Treasurer to the Cleveland Fire Authority 
Date: 16 October 2020 
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The Fire Authority's Responsibilities

The Authority is required to:

•

•

•

Chair of Cleveland Fire Authority

Date:  

The Treasurer's Responsibilities

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Treasurer has:

• selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;

made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and

• complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

The Treasurer has also:

• kept proper accounting records which were up-to-date; and

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Certification of the Accounts by the Treasurer

Chris Little CPFA

Treasurer to Cleveland Fire Authority

Date:

The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority's Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper 

practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom ('the 

Code').

In accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2016, I certify that the Statement of 

Accounts shows a true and fair view of the financial position of Cleveland Fire Authority at the accounting date and its 

income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020.

make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has 

the responsibility for the administration of those affairs; in this Authority, that officer is the Treasurer;

manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets; and

approve the Statement of Accounts.

I confirm that the Statement of Accounts were approved by the Cleveland Fire Authority at the meeting held on 

16 October 2020

16 October 2020

15



SECTION 4: Statement of Accounts

Movement in Reserves Statement for the year ended 31 March 2020

General 

Fund 

Balance

Earmarked 

General 

Fund 

Reserves

Earmarked 

Reserves 

Revenue and 

Capital

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Unusable 

Reserves

Total 

Authority 

Reserves

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Balance at 31 March 2018 carried forward 1,552 3,763 4,304 264 9,883 (438,481) (428,598)

Movement in reserves during 2018/19

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services (21,983) -  -  -  (21,983) -  (21,983)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
(7,843) -  -  -  (7,843) 7,843 -  

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

(29,826) -  -  -  (29,826) 7,843 (21,983)

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding 

basis under regulations

31,198 -  (425) 7 30,780 (30,780) -  

Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves

1,372 -  (425) 7 954 (22,937) (21,983)

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (1,372) 359 1,013 -  -  -  

Increase/(Decrease) in Year -  359 588 7 954 (22,937) (21,983)

Balance at 31 March 2019 carried forward 1,552 4,122 4,892 271 10,837 (461,418) (450,581)

Movement in reserves during 2019/20

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services 32,371 -  -  -  32,371 -  32,371 

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (47,394) -  -  -  (47,394) 47,394 -  

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
(15,023) -  -  -  (15,023) 47,394 32,371 

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding 

basis under regulations

15,532 -  (1,320) (271) 13,941 (13,941) -  

Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to 

Earmarked Reserves

509 -  (1,320) (271) (1,082) 33,453 32,371 

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (509) 411 98 -  -  -  -  

Increase/(Decrease) in Year -  411 (1,222) (271) (1,082) 33,453 32,371 

Balance at 31 March 2020 carried forward 1,552 4,533 3,670 -  9,755 (427,965) (418,210)

For detail on Usable and Unusable Reserves see Notes 23 and 24.
For detail on Transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves see Note 5.
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2018/19 2019/20

Gross Gross Gross Gross

Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Income Net

£000s £000s £000s Continuing operations: £000s £000s £000s Note

28,535 -  28,535 Employee Costs 25,830 -  25,830 6

4,485 -  4,485 Premises Costs 2,873 -  2,873 6

2,476 -  2,476 Supplies & Services 2,267 -  2,267 6

1,273 -  1,273 Transport Costs 1,330 -  1,330 6

412 -  412 Support Services 384 -  384 6

8,848 8,848 Exceptional item - Past Service Costs -  -  6

-  (2,328) (2,328) Income -  (3,123) (3,123) 6

46,029 (2,328) 43,701 Cost Of Services - continuing 

operations

32,684 (3,123) 29,561 

66 -  66 Other Operating Expenditure -  -  -  7

12,975 (810) 12,165 Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure

12,556 (797) 11,759 8

-  (26,106) (26,106) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income -  (26,297) (26,297) 9

59,070 (29,244) 29,826 (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of 

Services

45,240 (30,217) 15,023 

(1,248) (Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation of non-

current assets

(1,777) 24

Table 1

(6,595) Remeasurement of net defined benefit 

liability /(asset)

(45,617) 24

Table 3

(7,843) Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure

(47,394)

21,983 Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure

(32,371)

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2020
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31 March 2019 31 March 2020

£000s £000s Note
 

36,005 Property, Plant and Equipment 38,378 12

-  Investment Assets 105 13

5 Intangible Assets 3 14

64 Long Term Debtors 13 15

30 Long Term Investment -  30

36,104 Long Term Assets 38,499 

 

5,905 Short term investments 200 30

489 Inventories 458 16

4,808 Short Term Debtors 4,354 17

3,873 Cash and Cash Equivalents 10,010 18

15,075 Current Assets 15,022 

 

(2,275) Short Term Creditors (2,944) 19

(287) Provisions (278) 20

(191) Short Term Borrowing (193) 30

(925) Revenue Grants Receipts in Advance (1,408) 9

(3,678) Current Liabilities (4,823)

 

(9,255) Long Term Borrowing (9,112) 21

(488,827) Other Long Term Liabilities (457,796) 22

(498,082) Long Term Liabilities (466,908)

(450,581) Net Assets: (418,210)

10,837 Usable Reserves 9,755 23

(461,418) Unusable Reserves (427,965) 24

(450,581) Total Reserves: (418,210)

Balance Sheet for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Statement Of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2020

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

(29,826) Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services (15,023)

33,213 
Adjustments to net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services for non-

cash movements
17,584 32

(321)
Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or (deficit) on the 

provision of services that are investing and financing activities
5,786 32

3,066 Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 8,347 

(4,082) Investing activities (2,122) 33

(136) Financing activities (88) 34

(1,152) Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,137 

5,025 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 3,873 

3,873 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 10,010 18

Note

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority during the reporting period.

The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as

operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key

indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from

the recipients of services provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have

been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Authority’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising

from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the

Authority.

An analysis of the components of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Note 18.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. General Principles

For 

2. Accruals of Income and Expenditure

•

•

Going Concern - the financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Authority will continue in

operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Where estimating techniques are required to enable the accounting practices adopted to be applied, then the techniques which

have been used are, in the Authority’s view, appropriate and consistently applied. Where the effect of a change to an

estimation technique is material, a description of the change and, if practicable, the effect on the results for the current period

is separately disclosed.

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of

certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority’s transactions for the 2019/20 financial year and its position at the year-

end of 31 March 2020. The Authority is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit

Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These

practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20, supported by

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the Local Government Act

2003.

The Statements reflect the requirements of general accounting principals and concepts of: 

Relevance - the financial statements provide information about the Authority’s performance and position that is useful to the

users of the accounts to assess the stewardship of public funds and for making economic decisions. 

Reliability - the financial information faithfully represents the substance of the transactions, the activities underlying them and

other events that have taken place are free from deliberate or systematic bias and material error and have been prudently

prepared. 

There are no transactions which require the Authority to split the Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure line in the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement into two groups as per IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received.  In particular:

Comparability - the information has been prepared consistently and with adequate disclosures so that it can be compared

with prior years and other Fire Authorities.

The accounting policies are the principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices that specify how the effects of transactions

and other events are reflected in the financial statements of the Authority. Consistent accounting policies have been applied

both within the year and between years.  Where accounting policies are changed, this has been disclosed separately.

Fees, charges and rents due from customers are accounted for as income at the date the Authority provides the relevant 

goods or services.

Employees costs are charged to the accounts in the period within which the employees worked, which includes 12 monthly 

payments.

Understandability – the statements have been prepared to ensure they are as easy to understand as possible.

Materiality - the statements disclose items of a certain size and nature such that they provide a fair presentation of the

financial position and transactions of the Authority.

Accruals - other than the cash flow statement, the financial statements report transactions that have been recorded in the

accounting period for which the goods and services were received or supplied rather than in which the cash was received or

paid.

Legality - where the accounting principles and specific legislation requirements are in conflict, the financial statements have

been prepared to reflect legislative requirements.

Faithful Representation - the financial statements faithfully represent economic issues in words and numbers. They have

been prepared on the basis that they are complete, neutral and free from error.
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•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

4. Capital Expenditure

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Where payments are made or received in advance of a service being provided or received a payment or receipt in advance 

is recognised as a debtor or creditor in the Balance Sheet.

Income and expenditure are credited and debited to the relevant revenue account, unless they properly represent capital 

receipts or capital expenditure.

Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when 

the services are received rather than when payments are made. 

The Authority does not have a de-minimis level for capital expenditure.

Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) is initially measured at cost. Only those costs that are directly attributable to bringing the

asset into working condition for its intended use are included in its measurement. 

Property is valued on a five-year basis, although material changes to asset values will be adjusted in the interim period as they

occur. The current asset valuations are carried out by Hartlepool Borough Council which provides valuation services for the

Authority based upon certificates issued by the Council’s Property Management Division. The valuations are prepared in

accordance with the Statements and UK Practice Statements contained in the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Standards. From 1

April 2007, increases in asset valuations are credited to the Revaluation Reserve.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership 

to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to 

the Authority. 

The definition of enhancement is works that are intended to lengthen substantially the useful life of the asset, or increase

substantially the market value of the asset, or increase substantially the extent to which the asset can or will be used for the

purposes of or in conjunction with the functions of the Authority. 

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can measure reliably the percentage of 

completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 

will flow to the Authority. 

Works are charged as expenditure when they are completed, before which they are carried as Works in Progress on the 

Balance Sheet.

Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the 

relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.  Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled the balance of debtors is 

written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected.

Capital expenditure is defined as the acquisition, reclamation, enhancement or laying out of land; acquisition, construction,

preparation, enhancement or replacement of roads, buildings and other structures; and the acquisition, installation or

replacement of movable or immovable plant, machinery, apparatus, vehicles and vessels. 

Cash and cash equivalents are represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on 

notice of not more than 24 hours.    

Where a long term asset is acquired for other than a cash consideration or where payment is deferred, the asset has been

recognised and included in the Balance Sheet at fair value. 

Assets acquired on terms meeting the definition of a finance lease are capitalised and included together with a liability to pay

future rentals. 

Improvement works and structural repairs are capitalised, whereas expenditure to ensure that the long term asset maintains

its previously assessed standard of performance is recognised in the revenue account as it is incurred.

All expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) has been capitalised on an

accruals basis. Expenditure on the acquisition of PPE, or expenditure which adds to, and not merely maintains, the value of an

existing asset, is capitalised provided that it yields benefits to the Authority and the services it provides are for a period of more 

than one year. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand

and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management.  

Supplies and services are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the date 

supplies are received and their consumption they are carried as Inventories on the Balance Sheet.

Interest on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis 

of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the 

contract. 
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· 

· 

· 

· 

· 

· 

· 

· 

· 

· 

· 

where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is 

written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains); and

No allowance has been made for any taxation, acquisition, realisation or disposal costs or other expenses.

It is assumed that the present use is lawful and that there are no adverse conditions attached.  It is further assumed that 

there are no adverse planning proposals in existence that may affect the property in the future.

Details of tenure, planning consents and other relevant information are assumed to be correct.

The Authority has good marketable title, free from any onerous or restrictive covenants. 

There are no hazardous substances or latent defects in the properties and there is no contamination present. 

That properties and their value are unaffected by any matters that would be revealed by a local search, replies to usual 

enquiries or by any statutory notice.

The asset valuations have been prepared using the following assumptions: 

PPE is held or occupied, used or consumed by the Authority in the direct delivery of those services for which it has either

statutory or discretionary responsibility, or for the service or strategic objectives of the Authority. Non-specialised PPE has

been valued on the basis of Fair Value - Existing Use Value (EUV). Specialised PPE has been valued on a Depreciated

Replacement Cost (DRC) basis. This is because their specialised nature means they are rarely, if ever, sold or let on the open

market for their existing use. Assets that have been declared surplus to requirements have been valued at Market Value.

Assets under construction are valued at historic cost.

The Authority is not required to raise Council Tax precept to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or

amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall

borrowing requirement equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in accordance with

statutory guidance. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by the

contribution in the General Fund Balance (Minimum Revenue Provision or MRP) by way of an adjusting transaction with the

Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.  

No soil surveys have been carried out or services tested.

The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction. 

Where an item of Property, Plant or Equipment is acquired under a finance lease, at the inception of the lease the amount to be

recorded both as an asset and as a liability would be the present value of the minimum lease payments derived by discounting

them at the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Not all properties were specifically inspected for the purposes of asset valuations. This was neither practicable, nor considered

by the Valuer to be necessary, for the purpose of the valuation. However, regular inspections are made by officers of

Hartlepool Borough Council's Property Section of all the Authority’s property assets. As allowable under the Code, depreciated

historical cost is used as a proxy for some non-property assets that have short useful lives and/or low values.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation.

Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.

The cost of assets acquired, other than by purchase, is deemed to be its fair value, unless the acquisition does not have

commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows of the Authority). In the latter case, where an asset is

acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Authority. 

depreciation attributable to the assets used by the expenditure category,

6. Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 

PPE included in the Balance Sheet at fair value - EUV is revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that the carrying amount is not

materially different from the fair value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are

matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to an

expenditure category. 

Expenditure categories are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:

where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is 

written down against the relevant expenditure category(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the expenditure category where there are no accumulated gains in 

the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off.
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7. Impairments

· 

· 

8. Disposals

9. Depreciation

·  Fire Stations and HQ - 40 years,

·  Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 5 to 20 years,

·  Intangible Assets - 7 years

10. Intangible Assets

Expenditure on assets that do not have physical substance and are identifiable and controlled by the Authority (e.g. Software

Licences) is capitalised when it will bring benefits to the Authority for more than one financial year. The cost is charged to the

relevant expenditure category over the economic life to reflect the pattern of consumption of benefits. 

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 

where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is 

written down against the relevant expenditure category(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the total

cost of the item, or has a significantly different useful life, the components are recognised separately and depreciated based on

the components useful economic life. 

where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is 

written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains); and

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant expenditure category(s) in the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would

have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the

Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on

disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of

disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment

Account. 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation charged on

assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from

the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Depreciation has been charged on straight-line basis and calculated as follows: 

The useful lives of assets are estimated on a realistic basis and are reviewed regularly and, where necessary, revised. Where

the useful life of an item of Property, Plant or Equipment is revised, the carrying amount of the item is depreciated over the

revised remaining useful life. Depreciation is not charged in the year of acquisition or disposal but is charged in the year of

enhancement.

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over

their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that

are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction). Depreciation has been charged using the straight line method on

the closing balances over the assets estimated useful life.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of Property, Plant and Equipment is fully

provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account

from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where indications

exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where

this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 

Receipts are required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment or

set aside to reduce the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement). Receipts are appropriated to

the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
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11. Interests in Companies and Other Entities

12. Inventories

13. Reserves

14. Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions

Contingent Liabilities

Impairment of Bad and Doubtful Debts

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of average cost price or net realisable value.   Where inventories 

have been identified as being of no further use to the Authority and the appropriate procedures have been complied with, the 

obsolete stock has been written off, or an allowance has been made for obsolescence.

The Authority has material interests in companies that have the nature of subsidiaries and is required to prepare group 

accounts.  In the Authority's own single-entity accounts, the interests are recorded as financial assets at cost, less any 

provision for losses.

The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created 

by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be

financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate expenditure category in that year to score against the

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then

appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge

against Council Tax for the expenditure. 

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. Estimated settlements

are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will

now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant

service. 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal or constructive obligation that probably

requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount

of the obligation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate expenditure category in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Statement in the year that the Authority becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the

balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties. 

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another party (e.g. from an

insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant expenditure category if it is virtually certain that

reimbursement will be received if the Authority settles the obligation. 

The Authority recognises that debts are not always paid and makes provision for impairment of bad debts. Bad debt

impairment is calculated using a percentage based on known historic collection rates. This is applied to current outstanding

debt.

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets and retirement and employee benefits

and do not represent usable resources for the Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible obligation whose existence will

only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.

Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that

an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
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15. Employee Benefits

Benefits Payable During Employment

Termination Costs

Post Employment Benefits

The Authority participates in two pension schemes:

Fire Fighters

The Local Government Pension Scheme

· 

· 

· 

· 

Service cost comprising:-

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme.

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They include such benefits as

wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. operational emergency

response cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render

service to the Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu)

earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The

accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in which the

employee takes the benefit. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out

through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the

holiday absence occurs. 

Where termination costs involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be

charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated

according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and

from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination costs and replace

them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-

end. 

Termination costs are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an officer’s employment before

the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy, and are charged on an accruals basis to the

Non Distributed Costs line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the Authority can

no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Authority recognises costs for a restructuring. 

unitised securities – current bid price 

unquoted securities – professional estimate 

quoted securities – current bid price 

property – market value. 

● past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to

years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive

Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs. 

● current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked. 

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

The Authority is required to make defined contributions to the Pension Account, currently 37.3% for Fire Fighters who are

members of the 1992 Pension Scheme or the Modified Pension Scheme and 27.4% for those who are members of the 2006

Pension Scheme and 28.8% for those who are members of the 2015 Pension Scheme. The Authority must also make defined

contributions in respect of Ill Health retirements.

The assets of the Teesside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value:

As these contributions, plus employee contributions, are less than the payments made from the Authority’s Pensions Account,

the Government provide a specific grant to fund the resulting shortfall.

The Fire Fighters Pension scheme is an unfunded scheme. The Authority is required to maintain a separate Fire Fighters

Pension Fund Account, details of which are provided in the Pension Fund Statements (Fund Accounts and Net Assets

Statement).

The liabilities of the Teesside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis

using the projected unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement

benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates etc, and

projections of projected earnings for current employees.
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16. Leases

·  

·  

The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements.

Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make

the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for classification. 

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount

payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the

relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from

the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the

cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance

that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account

for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefit are earned by employees.  

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to

ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Discretionary Benefits

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are

accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. 

Contributions paid to the Teesside Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement

of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.    

● actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with

assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions - charged to the

Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  

Remeasurements comprising:-

● the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) - charged

to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

● net interest on the defined benefit liability (asset) i.e. net interest expense for the Authority – the change during

the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and

Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement - this is calculated by

applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined

benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period - taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability

(asset) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. 

Finance Leases 

a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to write down the lease liability, 

and 

Lease payments are apportioned between: 

Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease

at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset

recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Authority are added to the

carrying amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent

rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement). 

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied generally to such

assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life (where

ownership of the asset does not transfer to the Authority at the end of the lease period). 

The Authority as a Lessee
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17. Value Added Tax

The Authority is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses arising on leased

assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in

accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a

revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in

the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 

Operating Leases 

Finance Leases 

Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the relevant asset is written out

of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet

(whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the Authority’s

net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part

of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a

lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase

the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted

out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount

due in relation to the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the

General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future

rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor. At

this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

·  finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement). 

·  a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any 

premiums received); and 

18. Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.

VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for

under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from

the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the asset is retained in the

Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and

Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the

pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in

negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over

the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

The Authority as Lessor 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as an expense of

the services benefiting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the

life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of

the lease). 

Operating Leases 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Changes in

accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not

give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
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19. Events After the Balance Sheet Date

· 

· 

20. Financial Instruments

· 

· 

· 

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the

contractual provision of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their

amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and

Expenditure Statement (CIES) for the interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the

effective rate of the interest for the instrument. For most of the financial assets held by the Authority, this means that the

amount presented in the Balance Sheet in the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to

the CIES in the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.

Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the Financing and Investment

Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.

Financial assets that are measured at FVPL are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses

are recognised as they arrive in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL)

The Authority's business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows i.e. payments of interest and principal.

Most of the Authority's financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except for those whose contractual payments

are not solely payment of principal and interest (i.e. where the cash flows do not take the form of a basic debt instrument).

Amortised cost

Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is 

adjusted to reflect such events; and

those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to 

reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the 

nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a

financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest

payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The

effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the

amount at which it was originally recognised. For existing borrowings this means that the amount presented in the Balance

Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and

Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement.

Financial Liabilities

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the

reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for holding

the financial assets and their cash flow characteristics. There are three main classes of financial assets measured at:

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more

reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Authority’s financial position

or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening

balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 

For Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) loans, the fair value of each loan has been determined by information supplied by the

PWLB. For market loans, the redemption rules of the PWLB have been used to approximate the fair value of loans held. The

comparator market rates prevailing have been taken from indicative investment rates at each Balance Sheet date.

Financial Assets

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and comparative

amounts for the prior period. 
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21. Fair Value Measurement

a)
b)

· 

· 

· 

22. Council Tax Precept Income and Collection Fund

The Authority currently holds no financial assets at FVPL.

Equity instruments may be irrevocably designated at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) on the basis

that they are held for non-contractual benefits. They are not held for trading but for strategic purposes. Such assets were

previously classified as Available-For-Sale Financial Asset.

Changes in fair value are posted to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure and are balanced by an entry in the

Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve.

When the asset is de-recognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of

Services.

The Authority currently holds no financial assets measured at FVOCI.

Expected Credit Loss Model

Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take place because the

borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in assessing losses. Where risk has increased

significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased

significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on a basis of 12-month expected losses.

The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost (or where relevant FVOCI),

either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model also applies to lease receivables and contract assets.

Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) held by the Authority.

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value through other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to the Financing and Investment

Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments sets out that investments in equity should be classified as fair value through profit and loss unless

there is an irrevocable election to recognise changes in the Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income. The Authority will

assess each investment on an individual basis and assign an IFRS 9 category. The assessment will be based on the underlying

purpose for holding the financial instrument.

Any changes in the fair value of instruments held at fair value through profit or loss will be recognised in the net cost of service

in the CIES and will have a General Fund impact.

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the authority can access at the 

measurement date

Council Tax precept income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the year is the accrued

income. The difference between the income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the

amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund shall be taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and

included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

The Authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available,

maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly
Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

The authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and some of its financial instruments such as

equity shareholdings at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value

measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants would use when

pricing an asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Authority takes into account a markets participant’s ability to

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use by selling it to another market participant that would

use the asset in its highest and best use.

Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which the fair value is measured or disclosed in the

Authority’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows:
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23. Government Grants and Contributions 

· 

· 

24. Investment Property 

25. Exceptional Items 

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as

Capital Grants Receipts in Advance. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service

line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ring-fenced revenue

grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants, third party contributions and donations are

recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that: 

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the

General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital

expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital

Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once

they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 

Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until

conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future

economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be

consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 

the grants or contributions will be received. 

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. The definition is not

met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale. 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value (i.e. market value), based on the amount at

which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable parties at arm’s-length. Properties are not depreciated but are

reviewed annually according to market conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing

and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment

is applied to gains and losses on disposal. 

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income line and result in a

gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory

arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General

Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale

proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, either on the face of the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are

to an understanding of the Council’s financial performance. 

the Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments; and 
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·  Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Long-Term Interests in Associates and 

Joint Ventures.  The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Authority's 

financial statements.

·  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle. IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 11 Joint 

Arrangements, IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 23 Borrowing Costs.  The adoption of these updated standards are not 

expected to have a material impact on the Authority's financial statements.

·  Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement.  The adoption of this 

standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Authority's financial statements.

·  IFRS 16 Leases will require local authorities that are lessees to recognise most leases on their balance sheets as 

right-of-use assets with corresponding lease liabilities (there is no recognition for low-value and short-term 

leases). CIPFA/LASAAC have however deferred implementation of IFRS16 for local government to 1 April 2021 

due to the impact of Covid 19.

The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 

·  The Government has delayed major reforms of the national funding system ie Fair Funding Review and increase 

in Business Rates Retention from 50% to 75%  from 2020/21 until 2022/23.  Therefore, for planning purposes it 

is assumed that there will be no significant change in  funding levels for 2020/21. There is a high degree of 

uncertainty about future levels of funding for Fire Authorities in 2020/21 and beyond.  However, the Authority 

has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the Authority 

might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision. 

·  There is a high degree of uncertainty about the national Fire Fighters' pay award for April 2018.  If the actual pay 

award exceeds the interim pay award the Authority will meet any backdated costs from reserves. This would 

provide a longer lead time to develop a permanent funding strategy including potentially identifying additional 

savings.  A contingent liability has been disclosed at Note 36 as the Authority has determined that the level and 

likelihood of any further pay award for 2019/20 can’t be accurately estimated.

In applying the accounting policies set out, the Authority has had to make certain judgements about complex 

transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. 

Note 2: Critical judgements in applying Accounting Policies

The Code requires implementation from 1 April 2020 and therefore there is no impact on the 2019/20 Statement of

Accounts.

Note 1: Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been 

adopted 

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom requires the disclosure of information relating

to the expected impact of an accounting change that will be required by a new standard that has been issued but not

yet adopted. This applies to the adoption of the following new or amended standards within the 2020/21 Code.
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Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from assumptions

Property, Plant and 

Equipment 

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that 

are dependent on assumptions about the 

level of repairs and maintenance that will be 

incurred in relation to individual assets. The 

current economic climate makes it uncertain 

that the Authority will be able to sustain its 

current spending on repairs and maintenance, 

bringing into doubt the useful lives assigned 

to assets.

If the useful life of assets is reduced, depreciation increases and 

the carrying amount of the assets falls. It is estimated that the 

annual depreciation charge for buildings would increase by 

£0.020m for every year that useful lives had to be reduced.

Pensions Liability Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions 

depends on a number of complex judgements 

relating to the discount rate used, the rate at 

which salaries are projected to increase, 

changes in retirement ages, mortality rates 

and expected returns on pension fund assets. 

A consulting Actuary is engaged to provide 

the Authority with expert advice about the 

assumptions to be applied.

For the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) the effect on 

the net pensions liability of changes in individual assumptions 

can be measured.   For example, a 0.1% increase in the discount 

rate assumption would result in a decrease in the liability of 

£0.522m. However, the assumptions interact in complex ways. 

During 2019/20, the Authority's Actuary advised that the net 

pension liability for funded LGPS benefits had increased by 

£0.827m as a result of estimates being corrected in light of 

financial experience, increased by £1.166m attributable to 

updating of the demographic assumptions and increased by 

£0.163m as a result of liability experience.  Actual pension rates 

are determined on an actuarial basis every 3 years. The latest 

valuation has determined the employer’s contribution for 3 years 

from March 2019.  A 0.1% increase in this rate would increase 

the Authority's revenue budget requirement for pension costs by 

£3,000.  Uncertainties do not apply to the Fire Fighters Pension 

Schemes as these are Unfunded Scheme where costs are fully 

met by government grant.

Note 3: Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of 

estimation uncertainty

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Authority about the 

future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and 

other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be 

materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2020 for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment 

in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

The external valuers, Cushman & Wakefield, have stated that their valuations as at 31 March 2020 have been reported 

on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ and consequently, less certainty and a higher degree of caution should be 

attached to their valuations than would normally be the case.  Given the unknown future impact that Covid 19 might 

have on the real estate market, they have recommended that the valuation of the directly held properties is kept under 

frequent review, which is currently undertaken each quarter. For the avoidance of doubt, the inclusion of the ‘material 

valuation uncertainty’ declaration above does not mean that the valuations cannot be relied upon.  The statement is a 

disclosure, not a disclaimer. It is used in order to be clear and transparent with all parties that – in the extraordinary 

circumstances that applied at the valuation date – less certainty can be attached to the valuation than would otherwise 

be the case.

This disclosure relates  to two types of property assets owned by the Fund - directly owned property and pooled 

investment property vehicles.

Pension Fund Assets
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2019/20
General 

Fund 

Balance

Earmarked 

Reserves

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Movement 

in Unusable 

Reserves

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment Account:

Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive 

Income & Expenditure Statement

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 1,312 -  -  (1,312)

Charges for Revaluation losses on Property Plant & Equipment 77 -  -  (77)

Movement in the Market value of Investment Property 20 (20)

Amortisation of intangible assets 2 -  -  (2)

Capital grants and contributions applied (11) -  -  11 

Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as 

part of the (gain)/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income 

& Expenditure Statement

-  -  -  -  

Direct Revenue Funding -  (1,320) -  1,320 
-  

Insertion of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive 

Income & Expenditure Statement
-  

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment (MRP) (449) -  -  449 

Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:

Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/(loss) 

on disposal to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 

Statement

-  -  (271) 271 

Finance Lease payments transferred from Deferred Capital 

Receipts
-  -  (50) 50 

Application of Capital Receipts to Capital Adjustment Account -  -  50 (50)

Use of capital receipts to fund new capital expenditure -  -  -  -  

Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 

credited to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement
18,539 -  -  (18,539)

Employers Pensions Contributions (3,735) -  -  3,735 

Direct payments to pensioners payable in the year (218) -  -  218 

Adjustments involving the Collection Fund Adjustment 

Account:

Amount by which council tax income credited to the 

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is different 

from council tax income calculated for the year in accordance 

with statutory requirements

(22) -  -  22 

Adjustments involving the Accumulated Absences 

Adjustment Account:

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement on an accruals 

basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in 

accordance with statutory requirements

17 -  -  (17)

Total Adjustments 15,532 (1,320) (271) (13,941)

Note 4: Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 

Regulations
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Note 4: Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 

Regulations

2018/19
General 

Fund 

Balance

Earmarked 

Reserves

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Movement 

in Unusable 

Reserves

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment Account:

Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive 

Income & Expenditure Statement

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 1,370 -  -  (1,370)

Charges for Revaluation losses on Property Plant & Equipment 2,019 -  -  (2,019)

Amortisation of intangible assets 17 -  -  (17)

Capital grants and contributions applied -  -  -  -  

Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as 

part of the (gain)/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income 

& Expenditure Statement

387 -  -  (387)

Direct Revenue Funding -  (425) -  425 

Insertion of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive 

Income & Expenditure Statement

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment (MRP) (458) -  -  458 

Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:

Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/(loss) 

on disposal to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 

Statement

(321) -  321 -  

Finance Lease payments transferred from Deferred Capital 

Receipts
-  -  48 (48)

Application of Capital Receipts to Capital Adjustment Account -  -  (48) 48 

Use of capital receipts to fund new capital expenditure -  -  (314) 314 

Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 

credited to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement
30,547 -  -  (30,547)

Employers Pensions Contributions (2,266) -  -  2,266 

Direct payments to pensioners payable in the year (222) -  -  222 

Adjustments involving the Collection Fund Adjustment 

Account:

Amount by which council tax income credited to the 

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is different 

from council tax income calculated for the year in accordance 

with statutory requirements

137 -  -  (137)

Adjustments involving the Accumulated Absences 

Adjustment Account:

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement on an accruals 

basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in 

accordance with statutory requirements

(12) -  -  12 

Total Adjustments 31,198 (425) 7 (30,780)
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Note 5: Transfers to/(from) Earmarked and General Fund Reserves

Balance at 

1 April 

2018

Transfer 

between 

reserves in 

2018/19

Transfers 

Out 

2018/19

Transfers 

In 

2018/19

Balance at 

31 March 

2019

Transfer 

between 

reserves 

in 

2019/20

Transfers 

Out 

2019/20

Transfers 

In 

2019/20

Balance 

at 31 

March 

2020

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

General Fund Balance: 1,552 - - - 1,552 - - - 1,552 

Earmarked General Fund Reserves:

Budget Support Fund 2,913 408 - 801 4,122 - - 411 4,533 

CIRMP Implementation Reserve 850 (408) (442) - - - - - -

 3,763 - (442) 801 4,122 - - 411 4,533 

Earmarked Revenue Reserves:

Innovation Fund 566 - - - 566 - (113) - 453 

Capital Phasing Reserve 598 - - 149 747 - - 201 948 

Insurance Fund 200 - - 351 551 - - 106 657 

Commissioned Services 200 - - - 200 - - - 200 

Pension Reserve 108 - (53) - 55 - (55) - -

Breathing Apparatus 125 - - - 125 - - - 125 

Property Reserve - - - 334 334 - (334) - -  

Council Tax Collection Fund Deficit - - - - - - - 400 400 

Ringfenced Grants - - - - - - - 35 35 

Levy Account Surplus - - - 141 141 - (141) - -  

1,797 - (53) 975 2,719 - (643) 742 2,818 

Earmarked Capital Reserves:

Capital Investment Programme 2,507 (424) 90 2,173 - (1,321) - 852 

Capital Receipts Reserve 264 - (362) 369 271 - (321) 50 -

2,771 - (786) 459 2,444 - (1,642) 50 852 

Total Usable Reserves: 9,883 - (1,281) 2,235 10,837 - (2,285) 1,203 9,755 

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing for 

future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 

2019/20.  Further details of usable reserves are provided in Note 23.
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2018/19 2019/20

Net 

Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

Between 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net Expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

Net 

Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

Between 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net Expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

21,270 7,265 28,535 Employee Costs 22,778 3,052 25,830 

1,649 2,836 4,485 Premises Costs 2,023 850 2,873 

2,550 (74) 2,476 Supplies & Services 2,265 2 2,267 

720 553 1,273 Transport Costs 791 539 1,330 

412 -  412 Support Services 385 -  385 

838 (838) -  Capital Finance Costs 838 (838) -  

-  8,848 8,848 Past Service Costs -  -  -  

(495) 495 -  
Transfer from 

Earmarked reserves
(643) 643 -  

476 (476) -  
Transfer to Earmarked 

reserves
434 (434) -  

(1,978) (350) (2,328) Income (3,017) (106) (3,123)

25,442 18,259 43,701 Net Cost of Services 25,854 3,708 29,562 

(26,243) 12,368 (13,875)
Other Income and 

Expenditure
(26,265) 11,726 (14,539)

(801) 30,627 29,826 (Surplus) or Deficit (411) 15,434 15,023 

1,552 
Opening General Fund 

Balance
1,552 

801 

Less/Plus Surplus or 

(Deficit) on General 

Fund Balance in Year

411 

(801)
Transfer from General 

Fund
(411)

1,552 
Closing General Fund 

Balance at 31 March
1,552 

Note 6: Expenditure and Funding Analysis

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government 

grants, rents, council tax and business rates) by local authorities in comparison with those resources consumed or 

earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure is 

allocated for decision making purposes between the authority's directorates. Income and expenditure accounted for 

under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement.
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Note 6A: Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis

Adjustments from General Fund to Arrive at the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement Amounts

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes 

(Note 1)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note 2)

Other 

Statutory 

Differences 

(Note 3)

Other Non-

Statutory 

Differences 

(Note 4)

Total 

Adjustments

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Employee Costs -  3,036 16 -  3,052 

Premises Costs 850 -  -  -  850 

Supplies and Services 2 -  -  -  2 

Transport Costs 539 -  -  -  539 

Capital Finance Costs (448) -  -  (390) (838)

Past Service Costs -  -  -  -  -  
-  -  

Income -  -  -  (106) (106)
-  -  

Transfers From Earmarked Reserves -  -  -  643 643 
-  

Transfers To Earmarked Reserves -  -  -  (434) (434)

Net Cost of Services 943 3,036 16 (287) 3,708 

Other Income and Expenditure from the Expenditure 

and Funding Analysis
9 11,550 (22) 189 11,726 

Difference between General Fund (Surplus) or 

Deficit and Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (Surplus) or Deficit on 

the Provision of Services

952 14,586 (6) (98) 15,434 

Adjustments from General Fund to Arrive at the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement Amounts

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes 

(Note 1)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note 2)

Other 

Statutory 

Differences 

(Note 3)

Other Non-

Statutory 

Differences 

(Note 4)

Total 

Adjustments

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Employee Costs -  7,277 (12) -  7,265 

Premises 2,836 -  -  -  2,836 

Supplies and Services 16 -  -  (90) (74)

Transport Costs 553 -  -  -  553 

Capital Finance Costs (458) -  -  (380) (838)

Past Service Costs -  8,848 -  -  8,848 

Income -  -  -  (350) (350)

Transfers From Earmarked Reserves -  -  -  495 495 

Transfers To Earmarked Reserves -  -  -  (476) (476)

Net Cost of Services 2,947 16,125 (12) (801) 18,259 

Other Income and Expenditure from the Expenditure 

and Funding Analysis
66 11,934 137 231 12,368 

Difference between General Fund (Surplus) or 

Deficit and Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (Surplus) or Deficit on 

the Provision of Services

3,013 28,059 125 (570) 30,627 

2018/19

2019/20

Note 4 This is the net change in relation to any non-statutory adjustments included in the management accounts but not in 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Note 2 This is the net change for the removal of employer pension contributions made by the authority as allowed by 

statute and the replacement with current and past service costs. 

Note 3 This is the net change in relation to statutory adjustments for accumulated absences.

Note 1 This is the net change for the  removal of depreciation and impairment and other capital costs from services and 

the addition of other operating costs and capital grants received.
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Note 6B: Expenditure And Income Analysed By Nature

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

Expenditure / Income

Expenditure

28,535 Employee Benefits Expenses 25,829 

5,331 Other Service Expenses 5,463 

3,315 Depreciation, Amortisation, Impairment, Revalue 1,411 
12,975 Interest Payments 12,537 

66 Gain/Loss on the disposal of assets -  

8,848 Past Service Costs -  

59,070 Total Expenditure 45,240 

Income
(1,362) Revenues from External Customers (873)

(16) Other Revenue (7)
(810) Interest and Investment Income (797)

(20,388) Income from Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates (21,047)
(6,668) Government Grants and Contributions (7,493)

(29,244) Total Income (30,217)

29,826 Surplus or deficit on the provision of services 15,023 

The Authority’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows:
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Note 7: Other Operating Expenditure

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

66 (Gain) or loss on the disposal of Vehicles / Land -  

Note 8: Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s Note

-  Net (Gain) / Loss on Investment Properties 20 13

295 Interest payable and similar charges 252 30

(64) Interest Receivable and Similar Income (63) 30

11,934 Pensions Interest Cost & Expected Return on Pension Assets 11,550 35

12,165 11,759 

Note 9: Grant Income & Taxation

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income

13,237 Council Tax Precept & Business Rates Income 13,732 

7,151 NNDR Distribution - Top Up Grant 7,315 

5,718 Revenue Support Grant 5,239 

-  Other Capital Grants and Contributions 11 

26,106 Total 26,297 

Credited to Services

-  Home Office Firefight Pension Grant (Section 31) 1,409 

-  Section 31 Grant (incl. BRR - not incl. Covid & Pension) 465 

179 Command and Control - FireLink Project 185 

576 Other Grants 99 

141 DCLG Levy Account (Surplus) 31 

54 New Dimension - Training 54 

950 Total 2,243 

Current Liabilities

Grants Receipts in Advance (Revenue Grants)

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

620 New Risk Programme - Emergency Services Mobile Communication Programme 534 

-  DCLG Business Rate Relief 532 

-  COVID 19 162 

120 Modern Apprentice Levy Grant 148 

-  Commissioned Services 32 

185 Fire Link Project -  

925 1,408 

This note provides a breakdown of the various components included within the Other Operating Expenditure line of the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Authority has received grants that have yet to be recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them

that will require the monies or property to be returned if the conditions are not met. The balances at year end are as

follows:
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Note 10: Members' Allowances and Expenses

Member

Basic 

Allowance

Special 

Responsibility 

Allowance

General 

Travel

General 

Subsistence

Conference 

Travel

Conference 

Fees

Conference 

Subsistence

Members 

Training

Total  

2019/20

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Ayre, W (07/06/19-31/03/20) 1,827.66 -  53.55 -  -  -  -  -  1,881.21 

Brook, A (07/06/19-31/03/20) 1,827.66 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,827.66 

Bendelow, N (01/04/19-06/05/19) 218.22 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  218.22 

Brunton Dobson, J (01/04/19-06/05/19) 218.22 872.88 -  -  -  -  -  -  1,091.10 

Cook, R (01/04/19-06/05/19) 218.22 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  218.22 

Cooney, N 2,238.01 2,587.84 415.00 -  -  -  -  -  5,240.85 

Corr, G (01/04/19-06/05/19) 218.22 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  218.22 

Fleming, T (07/06/19-31/03/20) 1,827.67 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,827.67 

Frost, L (07/06/19-31/03/20) 1,827.66 -  16.90 -  -  -  -  211.20 2,055.76 

Goddard, R (01/04/19-06/05/19) 218.22 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  218.22 

Higgins, T 2,238.01 -  135.00 -  -  -  -  -  2,373.01 

Hussain, N 2,238.01 -  -  -  -  436.66 276.67 -  2,951.34 

James, M 2,238.00 -  38.90 -  -  -  -  245.00 2,521.90 

Kirton, P 2,238.01 7,310.79 532.55 118.25 -  436.67 276.67 167.95 11,080.89 

Mawston, T (01/04/19-06/06/19) 402.24 -  91.80 -  -  -  -  -  494.04 

O'Donnell, J 2,238.01 4,402.89 139.20 -  -  -  -  -  6,780.10 

Ovens, M 2,238.01 -  220.50 -  -  -  -  -  2,458.51 

Rathmell, J (07/06/19-06/06/19) 1,827.66 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,827.66 

Stoker, M (01/04/19-06/06/19) 402.24 -  146.20 -  -  -  -  -  548.44 

Stephenson, A (07/06/19-06/06/19) 1,827.66 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,827.66 

Thomas, S (07/06/19-31/03/20) 1,827.66 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,827.66 

Young, M (01/04/19-06/06/19) 401.04 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  401.04 

Waters, A (07/06/19-31/03/20) 1,827.66 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,827.66 

Woodhead, W 2,238.01 97.20 -  -  -  -  -  2,335.21 

Totals for 2019/20 34,821.98 15,174.40 1,886.80 118.25 -  873.33 553.34 624.15 54,052.25 

Totals for 2018/19 34,475.64 15,904.80 2,587.70 161.92 228.12 436.66 348.34 -  54,143.18

In accordance with the above regulations the Authority is required to publish details of fixed and attendance allowances paid to each

Member. The amounts paid for the year ending 31st March 2020, including payments to former Members who only served on the

Authority for part of the year are as shown below. It should be noted that the Authority does not pay attendance allowances and the

fixed allowances paid are taxed and subject to National Insurance. The total amount paid to Members in respect of basic, special

responsibility and travel and subsistence allowances was £54,052.25 (£54,143.18 in 2018/19). An analysis of the allowances is shown

in the table below:

The Basic and Special Responsibilities Allowances were increased by 2% on 1 April 2019.
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Note 11: Officers' Remuneration

i) 

ii) 

The Chief Fire Officer is appointed by the whole Authority on a full-time basis; selected on merit against objective criteria.

By law, the Chief Fire Officer is not allowed to participate in any party political activity and is expected to advise and

assist all elected Members irrespective of their political affiliation.

Details of the remuneration of the senior employees of the Authority are shown in the following tables. Table A discloses

the payments for 2019/20 and Table B provides the payments for 2018/19.

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer provides resilience and resource management services to support the achievement of

corporate priorities and ensures service continuity and operational preparedness. This includes logistics, estates,

information and communications technology, learning & development and resilience management. This remit was

previously undertaken by the Director of Technical Services. Upon his retirement from duty on 31/01/20, the post was

redesignated as Assistant Chief Fire Officer.

The Director of Corporate Services provides corporate support to Elected Members, the Chief Fire Officer and the

Executive Leadership Team. This includes corporate governance, policy, human resources, procurement, strategic

planning, risk and performance management, finance, executive and administrative support.

The costs shown for 2018/19 and 2019/20 reflect the recurring savings achieved from a restructure implemented in April

2018 of the senior management structure, which reduced the cost of the Senior Management Structure which in 2017/18

were £873,330.

In accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015, the Authority is required to

disclose details of remuneration for senior employees and those earning more than £50,000.

The statutory duty to make provision under Part 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 for fire safety, fire fighting,

action in respect of road accidents and other emergencies, together with other functions provided for in the Act is vested

with the Cleveland Fire Authority.

Details on the roles of the Authority’s senior managers are summarised below. The Chief Fire Officer is Head of Paid

Service with direct responsibility to the Authority for:-

Senior employees are defined as the Chief Fire Officer and the senior managers reporting directly to the Chief Fire Officer.

Senior Employees

the efficient operation of all functions of the Brigade, both in respect of the statutory duties with regard to the Fire 

services Act 2004 and any other activities approved by the Fire Authority, and

all administrative and managerial activities incidental to the running of the Brigade, its equipment and premises.
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Note 11: Officers' Remuneration

2019/20 - TABLE A

Gross Pay 

(before 

expenses and 

car lease)

Expenses 

Reimbursed     

(Note 1)

Car Lease

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

Pension 

Contributions 

2019/20

Pension 

Contributions 

(Note 2)

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

Pension 

Contributions 

2019/20

£ £ £ £ £ £

Uniformed Posts

Chief Fire Officer (Note 3) 162,882 128 10,627 173,637 - 173,637

Director of Technical Services (Note 4) 91,294 105 5,953 97,352 34,053 131,405

Assistant Chief Fire Officer (Note 5) 4,684 - - 5,103 1,349 6,452

Area Manager 1 (Note 8) 76,581 - 3,940 80,521 17,914 98,435

Area Manager 2 (Note 8) 74,012 - 4,273 78,285 23,202 101,486

Non-Uniformed Posts

Director of Corporate Services (Note 6) 109,457 - 6,397 115,854 19,263 135,116

Legal Advisor and Monitoring Officer (Note 7) 29,624 - 29,624 5,214 34,838

548,534 233 31,609 580,376 100,994 681,370

2018/19 - TABLE B

Gross Pay 

(before 

expenses and 

car lease)

Expenses 

Reimbursed     

(Note 1)

Car Lease

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

Pension 

Contributions 

2018/19

Pension 

Contributions 

(Note 2)

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

Pension 

Contributions 

2018/19

£ £ £ £ £ £

Uniformed Posts

Chief Fire Officer (Note 3) 158,910 255 10,578 169,743 - 169,743

Director of Community Protection (Note 9) 1,437 1 65 1,503 312 1,815

Director of Technical Services (Note 4) 106,773 126 7,113 114,012 23,170 137,182

Director of Business Development (Note 10) 1,548 - - 1,548 336 1,884

Area Manager 1:

Area Manager 1 (1 Apr 2018 - 8 Sep 2018) 30,005 55 789 30,849 5,771 36,620

Area Manager 1 (8 Oct 2018 - 31 Mar 2019) 40,258 - 2,400 42,658 7,801 50,459

Total Area Manager 1 (Note 8) 70,263 55 3,189 73,507 13,572 87,079

Area Manager 2 (Note 8) 69,145 - 3,167 72,312 8,721 81,033

Non-Uniformed Posts

Director of Corporate Services (Note 6) 106,776 - 4,685 111,461 18,793 130,254

Legal Advisor and Monitoring Officer (Note 7) 29,275 - - 29,275 5,152 34,427

544,127 437 28,797 573,361 70,056 643,417

Post Title

Post Title
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Note 11: Officers' Remuneration

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

Note 11: Officers' Remuneration

550,000 to 54,999

55,000 to 59,999

60,000 to 64,999

8

Expenses relate to phone rental allowance

In 2019/20, one employee was affected by compulsory redundancy (nil in 2018/19). The redundancy cost was less than

£500.

-

Termination Costs

No. of Employees

9

9

No. of Employees

7

Remuneration Band

(£)

22

65,000 to 69,9993 1

2018/19 2019/20

This table excludes details of senior officers set out in the table above.

Other employees with a salary of £50,000 or more

Notes

Pension contributions only relate to the Authority’s contribution to the relevant pension scheme. For Uniformed posts 

these contributions are set nationally and for all uniformed staff increased in 2019/20. Contributions for non-

uniformed posts they are set by the Teesside Pension Fund. In addition, the employee contributes a share of their 

salary to the schemes. Uniformed staff in the 1992 Fire Fighters scheme earning between £62,436 and £104,060 

contribute 16.0%, earning between £104,061 and £124,872 contribute 16.5% and earning more than £124,872 

contribute 17.0%.  Non-uniformed employees earning between £89,400 and £105,200 contribute 10.5% and 

earning between £105,201 and £157,800 contribute 11.4%.

The annualised salary of the Chief Fire Officer for 2019/20 was £162,088 (£158,520 in 2018/19), the actual includes 

pay award arrears relating to 2018/19. There were no pension contributions made on behalf of the Chief Fire 

Officer, which saved the Authority £44,412 in 2019/20 (£34,484 in 2018/19).

The Director of Technical Services was paid on a single point salary scale up to his retirement on 31/01/20 which for 

2019/20 was £108,912 (£106,514 in 2018/19).  Salary paid in 2019/20 included pay award arrears relating to 

2018/19.

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer was appointed on 16/03/20 and is paid on a single point salary scale which for 

2019/20 was £108,912.

The Director of Corporate Services is paid on a single point salary scale which for 2019/20 was £108,912 (£106,514 

for 2018/19).  Salary paid in 2019/20 includes pay award arrears relating to 2018/19.

The Legal Advisor and Monitoring Officer is paid on a single point salary scale which for 2019/20 was £29,624 

(£29,043 in 2018/19).

Area Managers are paid on a single point salary scale which for 2019/20 was £60,977 (£59,700 in 2018/19), plus 

appropriate allowances. Salary includes pay award arrears relating to 2018/19.

The Director of Community Protection left the Authority on 4th April 2018 and the role was removed as part of the 

Senior Management Restructure.

The Director of Business Development left the Authority on 5th April 2018 and the role was removed as part of the 

Senior Management Restructure.

- 70,000 to 74,999 1

21

In line with the Code guidance, ‘Remuneration’ is measured as gross pay (before deduction of employees’ pension

contributions), plus compensation for loss of office and any other payments receivable on the termination of employment.

Employer pension contributions are excluded.
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Note 12: Non Current Assets - Property, Plant & Equipment

Movements in 2019/20
Other Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, Plant 

& Equipment

PP&E Under 

Construction

Surplus 

Assets

Assets Held 

for Sale
Total     

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Certified Valuation

At 1 April 2019 33,970 8,004 228 125 -  42,327 

Additions 604 493 1,013 2,110 

Revaluation increases / (Decreases) recognised in the 

Revaluation Reserve
1,439 1,439 

Revaluation increases / (Decreases) recognised in the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services
(77) (77)

Assets reclassified 228 (228) (125) (125)

Derecognition-Disposals (34) (34)

Impairment recognised in Revaluation Reserve -  -  

Impairment recognised in Surplus/Deficit on Provision of 

Services
-  

At 31 March 2020 35,936 8,691 1,013 -  -  45,640 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

At 1 April 2019 (1,751) (4,572) -  -  -  (6,323)

Depreciation Charge (590) (539) (1,129)

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve on 

Historic Cost
(183) (183)

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve on 

Revalued Assets
338 338 

Derecognition - Disposals 34 34 

At 31 March 2020 (2,186) (5,077) -  -  -  (7,263)

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2020 33,750 3,614 1,013 -  -  38,377 

Nature of Asset Holding

Owned 33,750 3,614 1,013 -  -  38,377 

Total 33,750 3,614 1,013 -  -  38,377 

Movements in 2018/19
Other Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, Plant 

& Equipment

PP&E Under 

Construction

Surplus 

Assets

Assets Held 

for Sale
Total     

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Certified Valuation

At 1 April 2018 32,531 7,928 2,834 125 375 43,793 

Additions 145 163 430 -  -  738 

Revaluation increases / (Decreases) recognised in the 

Revaluation Reserve
373 -  -  -  -  373 

Revaluation increases / (Decreases) recognised in the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services
(2,019) -  -  -  -  (2,019)

Assets reclassified 3,036 -  (3,036) -  -  -  

Derecognition-Disposals -  (87) -  -  (375) (462)

Impairment recognised in Revaluation Reserve -  -  -  -  -  -  

Impairment recognised in Surplus/Deficit on Provision of 

Services
(96) -  -  -  -  (96)

At 31 March 2019 33,970 8,004 228 125 -  42,327 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

At 1 April 2018 (1,905) (4,094) -  -  -  (5,999)

Depreciation Charge (581) (553) -  -  -  (1,134)

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve on 

Historic Cost
(140) -  -  -  -  (140)

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve on 

Revalued Assets
875 -  -  -  -  875 

Derecognition - Disposals -  75 -  -  -  75 

At 31 March 2019 (1,751) (4,572) -  -  -  (6,323)

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2019 32,220 3,432 228 125 -  36,005 

Nature of Asset Holding

Owned 32,220 3,432 228 125 -  36,005 

Total 32,220 3,432 228 125 -  36,005 
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Depreciation

The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of depreciation:

- Other Land and Buildings - 40 years

- Vehicles, Plant, Furniture & Equipment - 5 to 20 years

Revaluations

Other Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 

Plant & 

Equipment

PP&E Under 

Construction

Surplus 

Assets

Assets Held 

for Sale
Total     

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Valued at Historical Cost -  3,614 1,013 -  -  4,627 

Valued at current value as at:

Current Year 5,799 -  -  -  -  5,799 

2018/2019 7,940 -  -  -  -  7,940 

2017/2018 8,697 -  -  -  -  8,697 

2016/2017 5,088 -  -  -  -  5,088 

2015/2016 6,226 -  -  -  -  6,226 

Total 33,750 3,614 1,013 -  -  38,377 

- Other Land and Buildings:  £15.533m

Surplus Assets - Fair Value

Capital Commitments

Non Current Assets - Property, Plant & Equipment - Revaluations

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

9,254 10,879 

31 -  

9,285 10,879 

     Other Land & Buildings

     Surplus Assets

At 31 March 2020, the Authority has rephased capital expenditure totalling £0.810m into 2020/21, of which £0.413m 

will be funded by the Capital Investment Programme Reserve and £0.397m from Prudential Borrowing.  The rephased 

capital is work at Queens Meadow Learning and Development Centre of £0.397m, Stockton Fire Station of £0.368m and 

specialist vehicles of £0.045m.  The comparable capital commitment at 31 March 2019 was contractually committed 

building works at Queens Meadow for the Learning and Development Centre of £0.030m and specialist vehicles of 

£0.331m.

The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment is required to be

revalued at least every five years. All valuations are carried out by Hartlepool Borough Council on behalf of the

Authority. Valuations of land and buildings are carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for

estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Valuations of vehicles,

plant, furniture and equipment are based on current prices where there is an active second-hand market or latest list

prices adjusted for the condition of the asset.

The Authority has no surplus assets.

Other Land and Buildings are measured at current value, Surplus Assets are measured at fair value. If the Authority had

chosen to measure the value of these assets under the cost model their carrying amount as at 31 March 2020 would

have been:

Revaluation Reserve Balance
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Note 13: Non Current Assets - Investment Property

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

-  Balance at the start of the year -  

Additions

-  Acquisitions -  

-  Subsequent Expenditure -  

-  Disposals -  

-  Impairment -  

-  Net Gains/(Losses) from fair value adjustments (20)

Transfers

-  (To)/from Property, Plant & Equipment 125 

-  Balance at the end of the year 105 

Investment Property - Fair Value

Valuation Techniques used to determine level 2 and 3 Fair Values for Investment Properties.

Highest and Best Use of Investment Properties

The Authority leases one property where it also acts as a lessor. This property is classed as an investment property.

The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year:

The Authority has one investment property. The property is rented by Cleveland Police at a peppercorn rent. This

building was refurbished by the tenant in 2017/18 and there has been no operating expenses associated with this

building. 

There are no restrictions on the Authority's ability to realise the value inherent in its investment property or on the

Authority's right to the remittance of income and the proceeds of disposal. The Authority has no contractual obligations

to purchase, construct or develop investment property or carry out repairs, maintenance or enhancement. 

The Authority holds one Investment Property, Grangetown Training School and land. The asset was valued at fair value

using the fair value hierachy, level 3.

Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 

the authority can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Authority's investment property has been valued on the basis of market value. The current value of the property is

the 'highest and best', most valuable use of the site.  
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Note 14: Non Current Assets - Intangible Assets

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

Balance at the start of the year

138 Gross carrying amounts 138 

(116) Accumulated amortisation (133)

22 Net carrying amount at start of year 5 

(17) Amortisation for the period (2)

5 Net carrying amount at end of year 3 

Comprising

138 Gross carrying amounts 138 

(133) Accumulated amortisation (135)

5 3 

Note 15: Long Term Debtors

This note sets out amounts owed to the Authority as at 31st March 2020.

2018/19 2019/20

Net Net

Debtor Debtor

£000s £000s

64 Finance Lease Receivable 13 

64 13 

Note 16: Inventories

This note sets out the value of inventories held by the Authority at 31 March 2020.

2018/19 2019/20

£000s Stores £000s

493 

Balance 1st April

489 

682 Purchases 666 

(684) Recognised as an expense in year (696)

(2) Written on/(off) Balances (1)

489 458 

The Finance Lease receivable relates to the lease of a vehicle from the Authority to Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk

Management Services CIC in 2013/14.  The closing balance is the outstanding amount owed to the Authority.

All software is given a finite useful life of 7 years. This is based on the assessment of the period that the software is

expected to be of use to the Authority and is in line with the Authority's accounting policy.

The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a straight line basis.

The amortisation of £0.002m charged to revenue in 2019/20 was charged to the Supplies and Services heading in the

Cost of Services. 

The movement on intangible asset balances during the year is as follows:
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Note 17: Short Term Debtors

This note sets out amounts owed to the Authority as at 31st March 2020.

2018/19 2019/20

Net Net

Debtor Debtor
£000s £000s

Government Bodies:

2,878 Central Government Bodies 2,194 

1,666 Other Local Authorities 2,002 

4 NHS Bodies 2 

Bodies external to general government:

96 General and Other Debtors 6 

164 Trade Debtors 150 

4,808 4,354 

Note 18: Cash and Cash Equivalents

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

Current Assets

459 Bank and Imprests 3,019 

3,414 Liquidity Accounts 6,991 

3,873 10,010 

Note 19: Short Term Creditors

This note sets out amounts owed by the Authority as at 31st March 2020.

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

Government Bodies

483 Central Government Bodies 484 

269 Collection Fund Agency Agreement 303 

812 Other Local Authorities 1,057 

Bodies external to general government:

298 Employees 234 

389 General and Other Creditors 732 

24 Trade Creditors 134 

2,275 2,944 

The Central Government Bodies debtor relates mainly to the Fire Fighters Pension Scheme top up grant also disclosed in

the Pension Fund Account Statements. The Other Local Authorities debtor mainly relates to year end entries required in

relation to the Business Rates Collection Fund.

This note sets out details of the Authority's cash in hand and instant access investment accounts in addition to the

overdraft included in the Liabilities section of the balance sheet.
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Note 20: Provisions

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s
214 Balance at 1st April 287 
111 Additional provisions made in year -  
(38) Amounts used in year (9)
287 Balance at 31st March 278 

Note 21: Long Term Borrowing

2019/20

£000s £000s

Loan repayments due after one year:

2,000  Money Market 2,000 

7,255  Public Works Loan Board 7,112 

9,255 9,112 

Note 22: Other Long Term Liabilities

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

488,827 Net Pensions Liability 457,796 

This note sets out details of the Authority's Long Term Borrowing.

The Other Long Term Liabilities relate to the Net Pensions Liability.

Following the implementation of the Business Rates Retention Scheme, this provision is earmarked to fund backdated

rating appeals as a result of Rateable Value changes and represents 1% of the total appeals. It is expected that any

appeals will be settled during 2020/21.
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Note 23: Usable Reserves

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s Note

1,552 Unearmarked General Fund Balance 1,552 a

Earmarked General Fund Reserves

4,122 Budget Support Fund 4,533 b

4,122 4,533 

Earmarked Revenue Reserves

566 Innovation Fund 454 c

747 Capital Phasing Reserve 948 d

551 Insurance Fund 657 e

200 Commissioned Services 200 f

55 Pension Reserve -  g

125 Breathing Apparatus 125 h

334 Property Reserve -  i

141 Levy Account Surplus -  j

-  Council Tax Collection Fund Deficit 400 k

-  Ringfenced Grants 34 l

2,719 2,818

Earmarked Capital Reserves

2,173 Capital Investment Programme 852 m

271 Capital Receipts Reserve -  n

2,444 852 

10,837 Total Reserves 9,755 

a) 

b) 

c)

d) 

e)

f) 

g)

h)

i) 

j) 

k) 

l)

m)

n)

This reserve has been established to support the self-insured insurance fund which provides for payments that fall within

the Authority's insurance policy excesses.

Following the latest actuarial valuation, this reserve was created to fund the lump sum contribution of the pension cost

relating to the LGPS.

This reserve is earmarked for specific commitments in 2020/21 or future years in accordance with grant conditions.

Usable Reserves are the Authority's main financial reserves and are earmarked to meet future expenditure liabilities and

to manage financial risks as detailed below.  Movements in these reserves are detailed in Note 5.

This amount will be maintained to meet any unforeseen circumstances which might arise. The value of this reserve

reflects the Authority's assessment of a range of financial risks which may occur over the next four years. The availability

of this reserve will enable the Authority to manage these issues and avoid the need for additional in-year budget

reductions over and above those already planned. These risks include the impact of potential shortfalls in the Authority's

share of Business Rates income.

This reserve is earmarked to support the budget in 2020/21 and future years.

This reserve is earmarked to manage income volatility and to provide a longer lead time to manage temporary income

reductions.

This amount has been set aside to meet the costs of replacing the breathing apparatus telemetry in line with the

replacement programme included in the Asset Management Plan. 

This reserve will be used over a number of years to smooth the interest and loan repayment costs which are charged to

the annual budget. The reserve recognises that the annual charges, which arise from the use of Prudential Borrowing to

fund part of the approved Asset Management Plan, are uneven and therefore avoids temporary increases/decreases in

the annual charge to the revenue budget.

This reserve was created primarily to fund domestic sprinkler installations. This reserve will be used over a number of

years as detailed projects are identified and implemented.

This was earmarked to fund projects delayed from 2018/19 to 2019/20.

This reserve is earmarked to offset a forecast Collection Fund deficit from an increase in Local Council Tax Support

households from the economic impact of COVID19. This will avoid the income reduction impacting on services.

This amount related to the Authority's share of the one off Business Rates levy account funding distributed by the

Government and was allocated to support the 2019/20 budget.

This reserve will be used to partly fund the Authority's Asset Management Plan which is designed to address operational

requirements covering the Authority's buildings, including Fire Stations and operational fire fighting and rescue vehicles.

It is planned to use this funding over the next two to three years. Expenditure on the Authority's buildings will ensure

facilities meet operational requirements detailed in the Integrated Risk Management Plan and help deliver ongoing

revenue savings in future years, including removing back log maintenance requirements. Expenditure on operational

vehicles will ensure the Authority maintains its operational effectiveness and is able to respond to the significant risks

within the Authority's area.

These reserves are set aside to fund future Capital projects.
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Note 24: Unusable Reserves

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s Table

9,286 Revaluation Reserve 10,880 1

18,265 Capital Adjustment Account 19,138 2

(488,827) Pensions Reserve (457,796) 3

114 Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 64 4

(22) Collection Fund Adjustment Account (2) 5

(235) Accumulated Absences Account (250) 6

(461,419) Balance at 31 March (427,966)

Table 1 - Revaluation Reserve

·   revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
·   used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation; or 
·   disposed of and the gains are realised. 

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

8,178 Balance at 1 April 9,286 

(1,134)

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment 

losses not charged to the Surplus / Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

(145)

2,382 Upward revaluation of assets 1,922 

1,248 

Surplus/(Deficit) on revaluation of non-current 

assets not posted to the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

1,777 

(140)
Difference between fair value depreciation and 

historical cost depreciation
(183)

(140)
Amounts written off to the Capital Adjustment 

Account
(183)

9,286 Balance at 31 March 10,880 

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value of its Property, Plant

and Equipment. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are:

The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the Reserve was created.

Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account.
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Table 2 - Capital Adjustment Account

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

20,674 Balance at 1 April 18,265 

(1,370) (1,312)

(2,019) (77)

(17) (2)

(387) -  

140 183 

(3,653) (1,208)

Capital financing applied in the year:

-  -  

314 271 

48 50 

458 449 

424 1,320 

-  11 

1,244 2,101 

-  (20)

18,265 Balance at 31 March 19,138

The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date

that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. Note 5 provides details of the source of all the transactions

posted to the accounts apart from those involving the revaluation reserve.

Application of grants to capital financing from the 

Capital Grants Receipts in Advance Account

Direct revenue funding credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement that have been 

applied to capital financing

Application of Capital Receipts in relation to finance 

lease to reduce capital financing requirement

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure

debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and

Expenditure Statement:

Amortisation of intangible assets 

Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for

the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets

under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as

depreciation, impairment losses and amortisation are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(with reconciling postings from the revaluation reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis). The account

is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and

enhancement.

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-

current assets

The Account contains accumulated gains recognised on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the Authority.

Statutory provision for the financing of capital 

investment charged against the General Fund balances

Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal 

or sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation

Reserve

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current

assets consumed in the year

Application of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance 

capital expenditure

Capital grants and contributions credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

that have been applied to capital financing

Movements in the market value of Investment 

Properties debited or credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement
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Table 3 - Pensions Reserve

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

(467,363) Balance at 1 April (488,827)

6,595 45,617 

(30,547) (18,539)

2,263 3,732 

225 221 

(488,827) Balance at 31 March (457,796)

Table 4 - Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

162 Balance at 1 April 114 

(48) (50)

114 Balance at 31 March 64 

Employer’s pension contributions

Direct payments to pensioners payable in year

Transfer to the Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash

The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non current assets but for which cash

settlement has yet to take place. Under statutory arrangements, the Authority does not treat these gains as usable for

financing new capital expenditure until they are backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash settlement eventually

takes place, amounts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited

to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Remeasurement of defined pension liability on

pensions assets and liabilities

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post

employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Authority accounts for post

employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees

accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment

returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be

financed as the Authority makes employers' contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is

directly responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits

earned by past and current employees and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them. The statutory

arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.
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Table 5 - Collection Fund Adjustment Account

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

115 Balance at 1 April (22)

(137) 20 

(22) Balance at 31 March (2)

Table 6 - Accumulated Absences Account

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

(247) Balance at 1 April (235)

12 (15)

(235) Balance at 31 March (250)

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals

basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in

accordance with statutory requirements

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund Balance from

accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31

March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from

the Account.  

Amount by which Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates income

credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

is different from Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates income

calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax and non-

domestic rates precept income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due compared with the

statutory arrangements for paying across amounts set by the billing authorities.
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Note 25: Related Party Transactions

Central Government

Local Government

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

Council Tax Precepts/Business Rates Retention

2,118    Hartlepool Borough Council 2,196 
2,853    Middlesbrough Borough Council 2,981 
3,345    Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council 3,399 
5,058    Stockton on Tees Borough Council 5,135 

13,374 13,711 

Authority Members

Chief Officers

Cleveland Fire Authority Risk Management Services Community Interest Company (CIC)

Land & Property

Other Relevant Information

The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that have the

potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the Authority.

Central Government have effective control over the general operations of the Authority. It is responsible for providing

the Statutory framework within which the Authority operates, and provides the majority of funding in the form of general

or specific grants.

The Authority obtains part of its income from Council Tax Precepts and Business Rates levied on the collection authorities

in its area.  During the year, transactions with related parties were as follows:

Disclosures in respect of Members’ interests are required to be reported. After consultation with Members there are no

disclosures to report.

The cost of services provided by the Authority to the four constituent authorities total £0.090m (£0.102m in 2018/19).

The cost of services received by the Authority from Hartlepool Borough Council total £0.234m (£0.192m in 2018/19).

The Authority does not directly employ its own Treasurer. The role of Treasurer is carried out by Hartlepool Borough

Council's Director of Finance and Policy via a Service Level Agreement.

Disclosures in respect of Chief Fire Officer and Directors interests are also required to be reported. After consultation

with the Chief Fire Officer and Directors there are no disclosures to report.

The Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management CIC is a community interest company limited by guarantee and wholly

owned by the Cleveland Fire Authority. The company was set up and registered on 31st March 2011. The Company

registration number is 7583911. The Fire Authority has established the Community Interest Company as a trading

organisation as required by the Local Government Act 2003 (section 95) and under the powers conferred by SI

2009/2393. Board Directors are I Hayton (Chief Fire Officer) as Chairman; K Winter (Director of Corporate Services),

S.R. Khaliq (Director of Technical Services up to 31st January 2020), and P Devlin. The purpose of the company is to

facilitate trading commercially by the Brigade in function related activities and use profits/surpluses for the benefit of the

community. After consultation with the Directors there are no transactions to report.

The Authority has an operating lease with a peppercorn rent, relating to Land & Property with Police & Crime

Commissioner for use of Grangetown Training Centre.

Information relating to the CIC can be found in the Group Accounts, page 74.
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Note 26: External Audit Costs

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

22 Fees payable in respect of external audit services carried 

out by the appointed auditor for the year

28 

3 Additional fee owing to work required for audit of the 

Group Accounts

3 

25 31 

Note 27: Operating Leases

2018/19 Future minimum lease payments due 2019/20

£000s £000s

39 Not later than one year 74 

39 Later than one year & not later than five years 39 

78 113 

The minimum lease payments incurred were as follows:

2018/19 Minimum Lease Payments in Year 2019/20

£000s £000s

49 Vehicles 78 

The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, statutory inspections

and to non-audit services provided by the Authority’s external auditors:

The Authority has one water tender and 17 contract hire cars on lease with outstanding obligations as follows:

The Authority has an operating lease with a peppercorn rent, relating to Land and Property with Police & Crime 

Commissioner for use of Grangetown Training Centre.

This reflects the actual costs incurred. A refund from Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) of £0.003m was received

in February 2020 and is not reflected above.
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Note 28: Finance Leases

Authority as Lessor

31 March 2019 31 March 2020
£000s £000s

50 51 

64 13 

5 2 

119 Gross investment in the lease 66 

Gross 

Investment in 

the Lease

Minimum Lease 

Payments

Gross 

Investment in 

the Lease

Minimum Lease 

Payments
31 March 2019 31 March 2019 31 March 2020 31 March 2020

£000s £000s £000s remove line£000s

53 53 Not later than one year 53 53 

66 66 Later than one year & not later 

than five years

13 13 

119 119 66 66 

The Authority has leased out a specialist industrial fire appliance to Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services

Community Interest Company on a finance lease with a term of 8 years.  The lease commenced on 1st July 2013.

The Authority has a gross investment in the lease, made up of the minimum lease payments expected to be received

over the remaining term and the residual value anticipated for the appliance when the lease comes to an end. The

minimum lease payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the interest in the appliance acquired by the

lessee and finance income that will be earned by the Authority in future years whilst the debtor remains outstanding. The

gross investment is made up of the following amounts:

The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received over the following periods:

Finance lease debtor (net present value of 

minimum lease payments):

Current

Non-current

Unearned finance income
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SECTION 4: Statement of Accounts

Note 29: Capital Expenditure and Financing

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

8,968 Opening Capital Financing Requirement 8,462 

Capital investment

308 Property Plant and Equipment 1,097 

430 Assets Under Construction 1,013 

Sources of Finance

-  Government grants and other contributions (11)

Sums set aside from revenue:

(424) Direct revenue contributions (1,320)

(314) Application of Capital Receipts (271)

(48)
Application of Capital Receipts in relation to finance lease to 

reduce capital financing requirement
(50)

(458) Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (449)

8,462 Closing Capital Financing Requirement 8,471 

Explanation of movements in year

-  Increase/(Decrease) in underlying need to borrow (unsupported 

by government financial assistance)

507 

(48) Application of Capital Receipts in relation to finance lease to 

reduce capital financing requirement

(50)

(458) Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (448)

(506) Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 9 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with the resources that

have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets

are used by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure

of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Authority that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed in the

second part of this note. 
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Note 30: Financial Instruments

Categories of Financial Instruments

The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet:

Long Term Current Long Term Current
£000s £000s £000s £000s

Investments at Amortised Cost

-  3,414 Liquidity Accounts included in Cash Equivalents -  6,990 

30 5,905 Loans and receivables at Amortised Cost -  200 

30 9,319 Total Investments at Amortised Cost -  7,190 

Debtors

64 259 
Financial Assets (including Trade Debtors and General 

and Other Debtors and Long Term Debtors) 
13 156 

64 259 Total debtors  13 156 

Borrowings at Amortised Cost

9,255 191 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 9,112 193 

9,255 191 Total borrowings at Amortised Cost 9,112 193 

Creditors

-  413 Financial liabilities carried at contract amount -  866 

-  413 Total creditors  -  866 

2019/202018/19
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Note 30: Financial Instruments

Income, Expense, Gains and Losses

Financial 

Liabilities 

measured 

at 

amortised 

cost

Financial 

Assets: Loans 

and 

receivables at 

amortised 

cost

Total Financial 

Liabilities 

measured 

at 

amortised 

cost

Financial 

Assets: Loans 

and 

receivables at 

amortised cost

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

295 -  295 Interest expense    252 -  252 

-  (64) (64) Interest income  -  (63) (63)

295 (64) 231 252 (63) 189 

·        

·        

·        

·        

·        

·        

·        

·        

·        

The fair values calculated are as follows:

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Financial Assets

30 32 Investments maturing after one year -  -  

5,905 5,905 Investments maturing within one year 200 200 

3,414 3,414 Liquidity Accounts included in Cash 6,990 6,990 

259 259 Short Term Debtors 156 156 

64 64 Long Term Finance Debtor with CIC 13 13 

9,672 9,674 7,359 7,359 

Financial liabilities 

2,000 3,944 Market Loans 2,000 5,497 

7,445 9,533 Public Works Loan Board 7,305 10,875 

413 413 Trade Creditors and General and Other 

Creditors

866 866 

9,858 13,890 10,171 17,238 

31 March 2019

2018/19 2019/20

Net (gain)/loss for the year

For non-PWLB loans payable, premature market rates have been applied to provide the fair value under PWLB debt

redemption procedures;

31 March 2020

No early repayment or impairment is recognised;

Where an instrument has a maturity of less than 12 months or is a trade or other receivable the fair value is taken to be the

carrying amount or the billed amount;

The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount.

The Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities that are not measured at Fair Value (but for which 

Fair Value disclosures are required)

Except for financial assets carried at fair value, all other financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and

receivables and long-term debtors and creditors are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. However disclosure of

their value is required and is set out below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between

market participants at the measurement date. Input to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which

fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements  are categorised within the "fair value hierarchy," as follows:

For loans from the PWLB payable, premature repayment rates from the PWLB have been applied to provide the fair value

under the PWLB debt redemption procedures;

The fair value of the assets and liabilities below has been assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows that will

take place over the remaining life of the instruments (Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy), using the following assumptions:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted market prices that are either directly or indirectly observable;

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs.

For loans receivable prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to provide the fair value;
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SECTION 4: Statement of Accounts

Note 30: Financial Instruments

Short term trade debtors and trade creditors are carried at cost as this is a fair approximation of their value.

The fair value of the liabilities is higher than the carrying amount because the Authority’s portfolio of loans includes a number

of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the prevailing rates at the Balance Sheet date. This shows a

notional loss (based on economic conditions at 31 March, 2020) arising from a commitment to pay interest to lenders above

current market rates.

However, the Authority has a continuing ability to borrow at concessionary rates from the PWLB rather than from the markets.

A supplementary measure of the additional interest that the Authority will pay as a result of its PWLB commitments for fixed

rate loans is to compare the terms of these loans with the new borrowing rates available from the PWLB. If a value is

calculated on this basis, the carrying amount of £7.305m would be valued at £7.729m. However, if the Authority were to seek

to avoid the projected loss by repaying the loans to the PWLB, the PWLB would raise a penalty charge for early redemption in

addition to charging a premium for the additional interest that will not now be paid. The exit price for the PWLB loans would be

the outstanding loan debt and accrued interest of £7.305m plus a penalty charge of £3.569m totalling £10.874m.

The fair value of Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans of £10.875m measures the economic effect of the terms agreed with

the PWLB compared with estimates of the terms that would be offered for market transactions undertaken at the Balance

Sheet date. The difference between the carrying amount and the fair value is calculated by applying the PWLB redemption

interest rates, which are lower than the borrowing interest rates.  The fair value therefore measures the additional interest that 

the authority will pay over the remaining terms of the loans under the agreements with the PWLB, against what would be paid

if the loans were at prevailing market rates, taken to be these lower redemption interest rates. However, it should be noted

that the borrowing interest rates on the debt drawn equated to the prevailing borrowing, as opposed to redemption rates at

the balance sheet date.
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SECTION 4: Statement of Accounts

The Authority’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

·        

·        

·        

·

·

·

·        

·        

·        

·        

·        

Credit Risk

Note 31: Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments

the Authorised Limit for 2019/20 was set at £14.0m (£16.0m in 2018/19). This is the maximum limit of external

borrowings or other long term liabilities;

Customers for goods and services are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other

factors, with individual credit limits being set in accordance with internal ratings in accordance with parameters set by the

Authority.

credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Authority;

liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make 

payments; and

market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority as a result of changes in such measures as 

interest rates and stock market movements.

The Authority’s overall risk management procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise

potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management is carried out by Hartlepool Borough

Council's Treasury Management team as part of the Service Level Agreement under policies approved by the Authority in

the annual Treasury Management Strategy. These are in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 and associated

regulations and require the Authority to comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code, the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury

Management in the Public Services and Investment Guidance issued through the Act. Overall, these procedures require the

Authority to manage risk in the following ways:

by formally adopting the requirements of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice;

by the adoption of a Treasury Policy Statement and treasury management clauses within its financial regulations/standing

orders/constitution;

- the Authority’s overall borrowing;

The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and building societies cannot be

assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will be specific

to each individual institution. Recent experience has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their

commitments. A risk of irrecoverability applies to all of the Authority’s deposits, but there was no evidence at the 31 March

2020 that this was likely to crystallise. 

by approving annually in advance prudential and treasury indicators for the following three years limiting:

the maximum amount of gross variable interest rate exposure for borrowing and investments was set at 75% and 100%

respectively.

These items are reported within the annual Treasury Management Strategy which outlines the detailed approach to

managing risk in relation to the Authority’s financial instrument exposure. Actual performance is also reported annually to

Members.  The role of the Audit & Governance Committee includes the scrutiny of treasury activities.

- its maximum and minimum exposures to the maturity structure of its debt;

- its maximum and minimum exposures to fixed and variable rates;

The Operational Boundary was set at £12.0m (£13.0m in 2018/19). This is the expected level of debt and other long

term liabilities during the year.

the maximum amounts of gross fixed interest rate exposure for borrowing and investments was set at 100% and 100%

respectively.

The Investment Strategy for 2019/20 is included within the Authority's Treasury Management Strategy.

The annual Treasury Management Strategy which incorporates the prudential indicators was approved by the Fire Authority

on 15 February, 2019 and is available on the Fire Authority website.  The key issues within the strategy were:

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the Authority’s

customers. This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that deposits are not made with

financial institutions unless they meet identified minimum credit criteria, as laid down by Fitch, Moody's and Standard &

Poors Ratings Services. The Annual Investment Strategy also imposes a maximum sum to be invested with a financial

institution located within each category. Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they meet the

minimum requirements of the investment criteria outlined above. The Authority now operates a very restricted

counterparty list which is actively managed to reflect continuing developments in the banking and financial sector.

- its maximum annual exposures to investments maturing beyond a year.

by approving an investment strategy for the forthcoming year setting out its criteria for both investing and selecting

investment counterparties in compliance with the Government Guidance.
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Note 31: Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments

31 March 2019 31 March 2020
£000s £000s

Less than three months 3 42 
Six months to one year -  1 

3 43 

Liquidity Risk

31 March 2019 31 March 2020
£000s £000s

Less than one year 139 143 
Between one and five years 458 418 
Between five and ten years 541 557 
Between ten and fifteen years 626 644 
Between fifteen and twenty years 723 744 
Between twenty and twenty-five years 836 861 
Between twenty-five years and thirty years 967 995 
Between thirty and thirty-five years 1,118 2,651 
Between thirty-five and forty years 1,986 242 
Between forty and forty-five years -  -  
More than forty-five years 2,000 2,000 

9,394 9,255 

All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year.

The Authority does not generally allow credit for customers, such that £0.043m of the £0.156m Debtors (Financial Assets)

balance is past its due date for payment. The past due but not impaired amount can be analysed by age as follows:

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period and the Authority does not expect any losses from non-

performance by any of its counterparties in relation to deposits.

The Authority has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available as needed. If

unexpected movements happen, the Authority has ready access to borrowings from the money markets and the Public

Works Loans Board. There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under

financial instruments. Instead, the risk is that the Authority will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its

borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates. The Authority sets limits on the maturity structure of its fixed rate

borrowing during specified periods. The limits have been set to enable maximum flexibility as experience has shown it is

possible to move from 100% long term borrowing to 100% short term borrowing and then back to 100% long term

borrowing over a period of two years. Therefore the lower limit was set to nil and upper limit to £12m, equal to the

operational boundary.

The maturity structure of borrowing at the year end was as follows:

The Authority has made no loss allowance for financial assets as the Council has assessed that any risk of default in relation

to borrowers or trade, general and other debtors are not material.

Amounts Arising from Expected Credit Losses

63



SECTION 4: Statement of Accounts

Note 31: Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments

Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

·        

·        

·        

·        

£000s

Increase in interest payable on borrowings 91 

Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments (72)

Impact on Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 19 

(3,397)

Price Risk

Foreign Exchange Risk

Collateral Risk

The Authority does not invest in equity shares and is consequently not exposed to losses arising from movements in the

prices of the shares.

Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not impact on the

Surplus of Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. However, changes in

interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the

Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments that have a

quoted market price will be reflected in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  

investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall.

The Authority holds £2m of long term borrowing in the form of a LOBO (Lender Option Borrower Option) loan from the

money markets, which is subject to periodic "calls" from the lender. Where the lender decides to "call" a loan, they increase

the interest rate of the loan and the Authority then has the opportunity to accept the increased rate or to repay the loan. In

accordance with the Code of Practice, the Authority's LOBO is included in the maturity analysis according to the end date of

the loan rather than when the next call date falls. 

borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall;

investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services will rise;

and

During the reporting period the Authority held no collateral as security and is therefore not exposed to losses arising from

this risk.

According to this assessment strategy, at 31 March 2020, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables held

constant, the financial effect would be:

The Authority is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments.

Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Authority. For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the

following effects:

borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services will rise;

Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowings liabilities (no impact on the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement)

The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements being reversed.

The Treasury Management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting of

the annual budget and which is used to update the budget quarterly during the year. This allows any adverse changes to be

accommodated. The analysis will also advise whether new borrowing taken out is fixed or variable.

The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and thus has no exposure to loss arising

from movements in exchange rates.
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The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

51 Interest received 12 

(296) Interest paid (304)

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

1,291 Depreciation and Amortisation 1,314 

2,115 Impairment and downward valuations 77 

(402) Increase / (decrease) in creditors 1,162 

1,685 (Increase) / decrease in debtors 403 

4 (Increase) / decrease in inventories 31 

28,059 Pension Liability 14,586 

74 Other non-cash items 11 

387 Carrying amount of non-current assets sold -  

33,213 17,584 

2019/20
£000s

-  Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments 5,786 

(321)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 

intangible assets
-  

(321) 5,786 

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

(885) Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment property (2,172)

(3,566) Purchase of short-term and long term investments -  

369 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 

intangible assets
50 

(4,082) Net cash flows from investing activities (2,122)

2018/19 2019/20
£000s £000s

(136) Repayments of short and long-term borrowing (88)

(136) Net cash flows from financing activities (88)

Note 32: Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following non-cash movements:

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following items that are investing and 

financing activities:

Note 34: Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities

Note 33: Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities
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Note 35: Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Participation in Pension Schemes

·

 ·

 

 

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Cost of Services:

Current Service cost 1,243 -  887 75 5 4,779 6,989 

Past Service cost (including curtailments) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure: -  

Net Interest Expense 233 1 10,226 172 421 497 11,550 

1,476 1 11,113 247 426 5,276 18,539 

3,592 -  -  -  -  -  3,592 

Actuarial (gains) and losses - financial assumptions (827) -  (7,578) (116) (546) (790) (9,857)

(1,166) (2) (877) 55 132 168 (1,690)

(163) 3 (24,243) (2,338) 1,872 (2,112) (26,981)

-  -  (14,243) -  (27) 3,590 (10,680)

2,912 2 (35,828) (2,152) 1,857 6,132 (27,077)

Movement in Reserves Statement

(1,476) (1) (11,113) (247) (426) (5,276) (18,539)

Employers' contributions payable to the scheme 604 -  626 -  4 2,498 3,732 

Retirement benefits payable to pensioners -  3 -  218 -  -  221 

Transfer from Pension Reserve (872) 2 (10,487) (29) (422) (2,778) (14,586)

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit for 

the Provision of Services for post employment benefits in 

accordance with the Code

Actuarial (gains) and losses - liability experience

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance 

for pensions in the year:

In 2018/19, the Authority chose to account for a potential McCloud liability and also the GMP equalisation and indexation

liability, these were shown within past service cost. 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes contributions towards the cost of

post employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the Authority has

a commitment to make the payments and to disclose them at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.

The Authority participates in two pension schemes: 

The Local Government Pension Scheme.  See Statement of Accounting Policies for further details.

The Fire Fighters' Pension Scheme.  New arrangements were introduced from 1 April 2006.  See Narrative Report for 

details.

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

2019/20

Other Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

The principal risks to the Authority of the scheme are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes to the scheme,

structural changes to the scheme (i.e. large-scale withdrawals from the scheme), changes to inflation, bond yields and

the performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. These are mitigated to a certain extent by the statutory

requirements to charge to the General Fund the amounts required by statute as described in the accounting policies note.

Discretionary post-retirement benefits on early retirement are an unfunded defined benefit arrangement, under which

liabilities are recognised when awards are made.  There are no plan assets built up to meet these pension liabilities.

The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they are earned by

employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge required to be made

against Council Tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of post employment/retirement benefits is

reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The following transactions have been made

in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves

Statement during the year:

Other

Return on plan assets (excl amount in net interest 

expense) 

Actuarial (gains) and losses - demographic assumptions

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability:
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Note 35: Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

2018/19

LGPS 

(funded 

benefits)

LGPS 

(unfunded 

benefits)

FFPS 1992 

(Old 

Scheme)

FFPS 

(Comp'n 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2006 

(New 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2015 

(New 

Scheme)

Total

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Cost of Services:

Current Service cost 1,089 -  1,709 120 3 2,656 5,577 

Past Service cost (including curtailments) 520 -  5,916 -  -  6,600 13,036 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:

Net Interest Expense 240 1 10,846 181 420 246 11,934 

1,849 1 18,471 301 423 9,502 30,547 

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability:

(1,527) -  -  -  -  -  (1,527)

Actuarial (gains) and losses - financial assumptions 2,280 1 20,169 353 1,792 1,358 25,953 

(1,560) (2) (14,934) (259) (808) (615) (18,178)

52 -  739 13 9 -  813 

-  -  (15,607) -  (45) 1,996 (13,656)

1,094 -  8,838 408 1,371 12,241 23,952 

Movement in Reserves Statement

(1,849) (1) (18,471) (301) (423) (9,502) (30,547)

Employers' contributions payable to the scheme 618 -  591 -  1 1,053 2,263 

Retirement benefits payable to pensioners -  3 -  222 -  -  225 

Transfer from Pension Reserve (1,231) 2 (17,880) (79) (422) (8,449) (28,059)

Pension Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the authority's obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows:

LGPS 

(funded 

benefits)

LGPS 

(unfunded 

benefits)

FFPS 1992 

(Old 

Scheme)

FFPS 

(Comp'n 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2006 

(New 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2015 

(New 

Scheme)

Total

2019/20 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Fair Value of Assets 27,243 -  -  -  -  -  27,243 

Present Value of the defined benefit obligation (39,554) (49) (397,326) (4,897) (19,396) (23,817) (485,039)

(12,311) (49) (397,326) (4,897) (19,396) (23,817) (457,796)

2018/19

Fair Value of Assets 31,047 -  -  -  -  -  31,047 

Present Value of the defined benefit obligation (41,050) (50) (433,780) (7,267) (17,544) (20,183) (519,874)

(10,003) (50) (433,780) (7,267) (17,544) (20,183) (488,827)

Other

Other Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Actuarial (gains) and losses - liability experience

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

Return on plan assets (excl amount in net interest 

expense) 

Actuarial (gains) and losses - demographic assumptions

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance 

for pensions in the year:

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit for 

the Provision of Services for post employment benefits in 

accordance with the Code
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Note 35: Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

LGPS 

(funded 

benefits)

LGPS 

(unfunded 

benefits)

FFPS 1992 

(Old 

Scheme)

FFPS 

(Comp'n 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2006 

(New 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2015 

(New 

Scheme)

Total

2019/20 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Opening balance at 1 April (41,050) (50) (433,780) (7,267) (17,544) (20,183) (519,874)

(1,243) -  (887) (75) (5) (4,779) (6,989)

(967) (1) (10,226) (172) (421) (497) (12,284)

Contributions by scheme participants (225) -  (255) -  (14) (1,108) (1,602)

827 -  7,578 116 546 790 9,857 

1,166 2 877 (55) (132) (168) 1,690 

Actuarial gains and (losses) on liabilities - experience 163 (3) 24,243 2,338 (1,872) 2,112 26,981 

Benefits paid 1,775 3 15,124 218 46 16 17,182 

Past Service cost (incl curtailments) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Settlements -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Closing balance at 31 March (39,554) (49) (397,326) (4,897) (19,396) (23,817) (485,039)

2018/19

Opening balance at 1 April (38,144) (53) (425,533) (7,081) (16,174) (8,995) (495,980)

(1,089) -  (1,709) (120) (3) (2,656) (5,577)

(986) (1) (10,846) (181) (420) (246) (12,680)

Contributions by scheme participants (230) -  (396) -  (15) (943) (1,584)

(2,280) (1) (20,169) (353) (1,792) (1,358)
(25,953)

1,560 2 14,934 259 808 615 
18,178 

Actuarial gains and (losses) on liabilities - experience (52) -  (739) (13) (9) -  (813)

Benefits paid 691 3 16,594 222 61 -  17,571 

Past Service cost (incl curtailments) (520) -  (5,916) -  -  (6,600) (13,036)

Settlements -  -  -  -  -  -  0 

Closing balance at 31 March (41,050) (50) (433,780) (7,267) (17,544) (20,183) (519,874)

 

LGPS 

(funded 

benefits)

LGPS 

(unfunded 

benefits)

FFPS 1992 

(Old 

Scheme)

FFPS 

(Comp'n 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2006 

(New 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2015 

(New 

Scheme)

Total

2019/20 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Opening balance at 1 April 31,047 -  -  -  -  -  31,047 

734 -  -  -  -  -  734 

Remeasurement gains/(losses) - return on plan assets (3,592) -  -  -  -  -  (3,592)

Remeasurement gains/(losses) - other -  -  14,243 -  28 (3,590) 10,681 

Employer contributions 604 3 626 218 4 2,498 3,953 

Contributions by scheme participants 225 -  255 -  14 1,108 1,602 

Benefits paid (1,775) (3) (15,124) (218) (46) (16) (17,182)

Closing balance at 31 March 27,243 -  -  -  -  -  27,243 

2018/19

Opening balance at 1 April 28,617 -  -  -  -  -  28,617 

746 -  -  -  -  -  746 

Remeasurement gains/(losses) - return on plan assets 1,527 -  -  -  -  -  1,527 

Remeasurement gains/(losses) - other -  -  15,607 -  45 (1,996) 13,656 

Employer contributions 618 3 591 222 1 1,053 2,488 

Contributions by scheme participants 230 -  396 -  15 943 1,584 

Benefits paid (691) (3) (16,594) (222) (61) -  (17,571)

Closing balance at 31 March 31,047 -  -  -  -  -  31,047 

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme 

liabilities (defined benefit obligation):

Current Service Cost

Interest income on assets

Interest Cost

Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme (plan) 

assets:

Current Service Cost

Interest Cost

Interest income on assets

Actuarial gains and (losses) on liabilities - financial 

assumptions

Actuarial gains and (losses) on liabilities - demographic 

assumptions

Actuarial gains and (losses) on liabilities - financial 

assumptions

Actuarial gains and (losses) on liabilities - demographic 

assumptions
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The Local Government Pension Scheme Assets

The Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:

2018/19 2019/20

£000s £000s

Equity investments 23,472 19,806 

Property 2,670 2,425 

Cash 4,098 3,651 

Other 807 1,362 

31,047 27,244 

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities

The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been:

2019/20

LGPS 

(funded 

benefits)

LGPS 

(unfunded 

benefits)

FFPS 1992 

(Old 

Scheme)

FFPS 

(Comp'n 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2006 

(New 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2015 

(New 

Scheme)

Long-term expected rate of return on assets in the scheme:

Equity investments 2.3% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Government Bonds 2.3% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Bonds 2.3% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Property 2.3% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Cash 2.3% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Other 2.3% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Mortality assumptions:
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:
Men 21.8 21.8 21.5 21.5 21.5 21.5
Women 23.5 23.5 23.6 23.6 23.6 23.6

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:
Men 23.2 n/a 23.2 23.2 23.2 23.2

Women 25.3 n/a 25.4 25.4 25.4 25.4

Other assumptions:
Rate of inflation (RPI) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Rate of inflation (CPI) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
Rate of increase in salaries 3.0% n/a 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3%
80.0% n/a 90.0% n/a 75.0% 75.0%

Note 35: Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the

pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.

The Authority's liabilities have been assessed by AON Hewitt, an independent firm of actuaries. Estimates for the

Authority are based on the latest full valuation of the schemes being 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 for LGPS

funded and unfunded schemes respectively. All four Firefighters' Pension Schemes were valued on 31 March

2019.

Take-up of option to convert annual 
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Note 35: Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

2018/19

LGPS 

(funded 

benefits)

LGPS 

(unfunded 

benefits)

FFPS 1992 

(Old 

Scheme)

FFPS 

(Comp'n 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2006 

(New 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2015 

(New 

Scheme)
    

Long-term expected rate of return on assets in the scheme:

Equity investments 2.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Government Bonds 2.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Bonds 2.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Property 2.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Cash 2.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Other 2.4% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Mortality assumptions:
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:
Men 22.2 22.2 21.4 21.4 21.4 21.4
Women 24.1 24.1 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:
Men 23.9 n/a 23.1 23.1 23.1 23.1

Women 25.9 n/a 25.6 25.6 25.6 25.6

Other assumptions:
Rate of inflation (RPI) 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3%
Rate of inflation (CPI) 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
Rate of increase in salaries 3.2% n/a 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4%

80.0% n/a 90.0% n/a 75.0% 75.0%

Take-up of option to convert annual 

pension into retirement lump sum
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Sensitivity Analysis

LGPS 

(funded 

benefits)

FFPS 1992 

(Old 

Scheme)

FFPS 

(Comp'n 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2006 

(New 

Scheme)

FFPS 

2015 

(New 

Scheme)

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

814 6,749 69 640 738

122 397 15 291 405

746 6,352 54 330 357

1,297 13,101 162 640 786

 

831 6,749 69 659 762

120 397 15 291 381

730 6,352 59 330 357

1,284 13,101 162 640 786

Impact on the Authority's Cash Flows

Note 35: Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Adjustment to Longevity (increase 1 year)

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table above.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions

occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changes while

all other assumptions remain constant.

Increase In Assumptions

The assumptions for longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy increases or decreases for men and women.

In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in

the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the

projected unit credit method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below

did not change from those used in the previous period.

Impact on Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme

The total contributions expected to be made to the Local Government Pension Scheme by the Authority in the year to

31 March 2021 is £0.522m and the total contributions expected to be made to the Fire Fighters' Pension Scheme by the

Authority in the same year is £14.924m including the Government Pensions Top Up Grant.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is 18.2 years in 2019/20 (17

years in 2018/19).

The objectives of the Local Government Pension Scheme are to keep employers' contributions at as constant a rate as

possible. The current funding level of the scheme is 100%. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis. The next

triennial valuation is due to be completed as at 31 March 2022.  

The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under the Public Pensions Services Act

2013. Under the Act, Local Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales and the other main existing public

service schemes may not provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014. The Act provides for scheme

regulations to be made within a common framework, to establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay

pensions and other benefits to certain public servants.

Adjustment to Discount rate (+ 0.1%)

Adjustment to Salary increase rate (+ 0.1%)

Adjustment to Pension increase rate (+ 0.1%)

Adjustment to Longevity (decrease 1 year)

Decrease in Assumptions

Adjustment to Discount rate (- 0.1%)

Adjustment to Salary increase rate (- 0.1%)

Adjustment to Pension increase rate (- 0.1%)
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It is not expected that the COVID19 pandemic will impact on the Authorities 2020/21 expenditure. However, the 

pandemic will impact on Council tax and Business Rates revenues in 2021/22. Through Collection Fund deficits and 

reduced in year income.  The Authority has earmarked a specific reserve of £0.400m towards these risks and will 

earmark further monies from the 2020/21 outturn, and  if necessary from the reallocation of the Budget Support fund. 

Note 37: Events after the Balance Sheet Date

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Treasurer on 16 October 2020. Events taking place after this 

date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where events taking place before this date provided 

information about conditions existing at 31 March 2020, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been 

adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.

Note 36: Contingent Liabilities

These refer to either a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Authority's control, or a present obligation 

arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required or the amount of 

the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The current Fire Brigades Union pay claim is for 17% and national negotiations are continuing, including in relation to 

‘broadening the role’ and this may impact on firefighters pay levels. As it is unclear when these negotiations will be 

completed, what the outcome will be and the implementation date it is not possible to estimate the potential financial 

impact on the Authority. If these negotiations result in an increase and the Government does not provide additional 

recurring funding the Authority will have to identify additional permanent budget reductions.   As this is a national issue 

the current planning assumption is that additional Government funding will be provided for any increased costs which 

may arise from ‘broadening the role'.
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Fund Account

2018/19 2019/20
Expenditure / Expenditure / 

(Income) (Income)
£000s Contributions receivable £000s

From employer

(1,638) Normal (3,127)

(1,351) From members (1,391)

(2,989) (4,518)

FPS 1992 - Contributions Refund Grant

Transfers in 

(22) Individual transfers in from other schemes (113)

(22) (113)

Benefits payable

12,551 Pensions 13,112 

3,623 Commutation and lump sum retirement benefits 1,933 

16,174 15,045 

Payment to and account of leavers

-  Individual transfers out to other schemes -  

-  -  

13,163 Net amount payable for the year 10,414 

(13,163) Top-up grant payable by the Government (10,414)

-  -

Net Assets Statement

2018/19 2019/20
£000s Current assets and liabilities £000s

(2,587) (1,878)

2,587 Amount owing to the General Fund 1,878 

-  Net assets -  

The above statement does not include liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the Balance Sheet date.

Further information about IAS 19 liability is contained in Note 35. In accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 the

actual cost of pensions required for Council Tax precepting purposes is replaced by the current service cost of pensions

in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account and reversed out.

Pension Fund Account Statements

The Pension Fund is an unfunded scheme established under the Fire Fighters' Pension Scheme (Amendment) (England)

Order 2006, administered by the Authority. The scheme has no investment assets and does not account for benefits

payable in the future. The difference between contributions from employers and employees and the benefits payable is

funded by top up grant from the Government.  Any surplus on the fund is repaid to the Government.

The accounts are prepared in accordance with the same code of practice and accounting policies as outlined in the

Statement of Accounting Policies.

Any Government funding payable is paid in two instalments, 80% of the estimated annual amount at the start of the

year and the actual balance paid following completion of the accounts for the year.

Debtor: Pension top-up grant receivable from the Government
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GROUP ACCOUNTS

INTRODUCTION

The following pages include:

         Group Movement in Reserves Statement

         Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

         Group Balance Sheet

         Group Cash Flow Statement

Subsidiaries/Associates

The group financial statements are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The

financial statements of Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services CIC are presented under FRS102; their

accounts have been restated to comply with IFRS.

Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services CIC is a subsidiary of Cleveland Fire Authority. The Authority does not

have any associates.

Cleveland Fire Authority established a Community Interest Company, Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services

CIC, which was incorporated in March 2011 and commenced trading in July 2011. The Group Financial Statements

consolidate the performance and balances that relate to the Community Interest Company into the statements of

Cleveland Fire Authority, which allows the full picture of the Group activities to be presented.
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Group Movement in Reserves Statement for the year ended 31 March 2020

General 

Fund 

Balance

Earmarked 

General 

Fund 

Reserves

Earmarked  

Reserves

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Unusable 

Reserves

Total 

Authority 

Reserves

Authority's 

Share of 

Subsidiary 

Reserves

Total  Group 

Reserves

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Balance at 31 March 2018 carried 

forward
1,552 3,763 4,304 264 9,883 (438,481) (428,598) 199 (428,399)

Movement in reserves during 

2018/19

RESTATED

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of 

services 

(21,983) - - - (21,983) - (21,983) 67 (21,916)

Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure

(7,843) - - - (7,843) 7,843 - - -

Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
(29,826) -  -  -  (29,826) 7,843 (21,983) 67 (21,916)

Adjustments between accounting 

basis & funding basis under 

regulations (note 5)

31,198 - (425) 7 30,780 (30,780) - - -

Net Increase/(Decrease) before 

Transfers to Earmarked Reserves
1,372 -  (425) 7 954 (22,937) (21,983) 67 (21,916)

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked 

Reserves
(1,372) 359 1,013 - - - - - -

Increase/(Decrease) in Year -  359 588 7 954 (22,937) (21,983) 67 (21,916)

Balance at 31 March 2019 carried 

forward
1,552 4,122 4,892 271 10,837 (461,418) (450,581) 266 (450,315)

Movement in reserves during 

2019/20

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of 

services 

32,371 - - - 32,371 - 32,371 36 32,407 

Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
(47,394) - - - (47,394) 47,394 - - -

Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure

(15,023) - - - (15,023) 47,394 32,371 36 
32,407 

Adjustments between accounting 

basis & funding basis under 

regulations (note 5)

15,532 - (1,320) (271) 13,941 (13,941) - - -

Net Increase/(Decrease) before 

Transfers to Earmarked Reserves
509 - (1,320) (271) (1,082) 33,453 32,371 36 32,407 

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked 

Reserves
(509) 411 98 - - - - -

Increase/(Decrease) in Year - 411 (1,222) (271) (1,082) 33,453 32,371 36 32,407 

Balance at 31 March 2020 carried 

forward
1,552 4,533 3,670 - 9,755 (427,965) (418,210) 302 (417,908)

This Statement shows the movement in the year on the Authority's single entity usable and unusable reserves, and the 

Authority's share of the Group Reserves.
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2018/19
RESTATED 2019/20

Gross Gross Gross Gross

Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Income Net

£000s £000s £000s Continuing operations: £000s £000s £000s

31,795 -  31,795 Employee Costs 29,473 -  29,473 

4,485 -  4,485 Premises Costs 2,873 -  2,873 

3,779 -  3,779 Supplies & Services 2,799 -  2,799 

1,262 -  1,262 Transport Costs 1,326 -  1,326 

8,848 -  8,848 Past Service Costs -  -  -  

412 -  412 Support Services 384 -  384 

-  (6,891) (6,891) Income -  (7,346) (7,346)

50,581 (6,891) 43,690 
Cost of Services - continuing 

operations
36,855 (7,346) 29,509 

66 -  66 Other Operating Expenditure (4) -  (4)

12,975 (797) 12,178 
Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure
12,506 (737) 11,769 

-  (26,106) (26,106) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income -  (26,297) (26,297)

63,622 (33,794) 29,828 
(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of 

Services
49,357 (34,380) 14,977 

(69) Tax Expenses (Subsidiaries) 9 

29,759 
Group (Surplus) or Deficit on 

Provision of Services
14,986 

(1,248)
(Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation of non-

current assets
(1,777)

(6,595)
Remeasurement of net defined benefit 

liability /(asset)
(45,617)

(7,843)
Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
(47,394)

21,916 
Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
(32,408)

Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2020

This Statement summarises the resources that have been generated and consumed in providing services and managing

the Group during the last year.  It includes all day to day expenses and related income on an accruals basis.
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31 March 2019 31 March 2020
RESTATED

£000s £000s

 

36,119 Property, Plant and Equipment 38,442 

150 Investments 255 

5 Intangible Assets 3 

-  Long Term Debtors -  

36,274 Long Term Assets 38,700 

 

5,515 Short term investments -  

489 Inventories 458 

5,744 Short Term Debtors 5,035 

3,929 Cash and Cash Equivalents 10,032 

15,677 Current Assets 15,525 

 

(2,767) Short Term Creditors (3,340)

(301) Provisions (284)

(191) Short Term Borrowing (193)

(925) Revenue Grants Receipts in Advance (1,408)

(4,184) Current Liabilities (5,225)

 

(9,255) Long Term Borrowing (9,112)

(488,827) Other Long Term Liabilities (457,796)

(498,082) Long Term Liabilities (466,908)

(450,315) Net Assets: (417,908)

 

10,837 Usable Reserves 9,755 

(461,418) Unusable Reserves (427,965)

266 Subsidiary Reserve 302 

(450,315) Total Reserves: (417,908)

Group Balance Sheet for the year ended 31 March 2020

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the asset and liabilities recognised by the Group.

The net assets of the Group (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Group.
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Group Statement Of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2020

2018/19
RESTATED 2019/20

£000s £000s

(29,759) Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services (14,987)

33,162 Adjustments to net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services for non-cash movements 17,734 

(321)
Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services that 

are investing and financing activities
5,782 

3,082 Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 8,529 

(4,082) Investing activities (2,118)

(71) Financing activities (308)

(1,071) Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,103 

5,000 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 3,929 

3,929 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 10,032 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Group during the reporting period. The

statement shows how the Group generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating,

investing and financing activities.
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Notes to the Group Accounts

Group Accounting Policies

The Group Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice for Local Authority

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20 issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

The accounting policies used in preparing the Group Accounts are largely those used by Cleveland Fire Authority. In

order to align group entities accounting policies to those used by the Authority and ensure consistency of accounting

treatment across the group, the following policies have been adopted.

Deferred Taxation

Full provision is made for deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from all timing differences between the recognition of

gains and losses in the financial statements and recognition in the tax computation.

A net deferred tax asset is recognised only if it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable

profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates expected to be effective at the time the timing

differences are expected to reverse.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Consolidation of Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries have been consolidated using the acquisition accounting basis. This is a full, line by line consolidation of the

financial transactions and balances of the Authority and its subsidiary. To avoid overstating the figures in the group

financial statements, all transactions and balances between the members of the group (Cleveland Fire Authority and

Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services CIC) have been eliminated.

International Financial Reporting Standards

The Authority produces its financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management

Services CIC produces its financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP; their financial statements have been

adjusted to reflect IFRS where any changes have a material effect on the presentation of the Group Financial Statements.

Officers' Remuneration

There is no remuneration for Directors of Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services CIC.

Audit Fees

Audit fees owing to additional work required for the audit of the group accounts are disclosed in Note 25.

Group Adjustments

The following transactions have been eliminated from the Group Financial Statements:-

During 2019/20 goods and services with a value of £0.149m were supplied by Cleveland Fire Authority to Cleveland Fire

Brigade Risk Management Services Community Interest Company (CIC). The CIC provided £0.050m of services to the

Authority. These transactions have been eliminated from the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement in the

Group Accounts. In addition, intra-company debtors and creditors have been adjusted for in the Balance sheet. 

The Authority has leased out a specialist industrial fire appliance to Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services

Community Interest Company on a finance lease with a term of 8 years. The lease commenced on 1 July 2013. The

transactions relating to this purchase have been eliminated from the Group Accounts with a value of £0.053m.

The Fire Authority has provided a working capital loan to the CIC. Interest is charged at a commercial level and loan 

repayments are linked to the length of contracts secured by the CIC.  This loan has also been eliminated from the 

statements with a value of £0.200m.

CIC Performance

Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services CIC received Charitable Donations during 2019/20 of £35,000 

(£70,000 of Charitable Donations were made by Cleveland Fire Brigade Risk Management Services CIC in 2018/19) and 

funded an Apprentice Scheme of £63,583 (£118,960 in 2018/19) from the gross profit earned on Trading Activities.  After 

reflecting these issues the net profit for 2019/20 was £36,089 (£66,890 profit for 2018/19, restated) and retained 

earnings at the financial year-end (31st March 2020) were £302,203 (£266,114 at 31st March 2019, restated).

The CIC continues to operate in a competitive environment, although existing contractual income is not adversely 

impacted by Covid-19 as services are still being provided.
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

Cleveland Fire Authority (CFA)  is responsible for ensuring that:

·  

·  

THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

THE INTERNAL CONTROL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Fire Authority publishes the following key documents:

·  

·  

·  

·  

A Community Integrated Risk Management Plan 2018-22 (CIRMP), which identifies the strategic issues to be

addressed and how we will address them over the medium term. 

Its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, 

Public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.

The Authority also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous

improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and

effectiveness.

The governance framework comprises of systems, processes, culture and values, by which the Authority directs and

controls its activities for which it is accountable for and engages with the community. It enables the Authority to

monitor the achievement of its strategic priorities and consider whether those have resulted in the delivery of

appropriate, effective and cost-effective services.

The governance framework has been in place at CFA for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The key elements of the Authority’s policy, decision making and internal control governance framework are outlined in

the CFA Constitution which details the Authority’s Corporate and Ethical Governance arrangements and the Member

Development Framework. 

The staff handbook sets out internal control and managerial procedures and details standards of conduct and probity

issues.

The Authority has approved and adopted a ‘Local Code of Corporate Governance’ which encompasses the guidance and

best practice as outlined in the ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016) that is published by

CIPFA and SOLACE. The code draws strongly on the good practices already established and outlines the way in which the

Authority will meet that commitment.  

In discharging these overall responsibilities, CFA must ensure that there are proper arrangements in place for the

governance of its affairs, and sound systems of internal control that support the Authority in the effective exercising of

its functions and responsibilities including arrangements for the management of risk.

The systems of internal control are a significant part of that framework and are designed to manage risk to a reasonable

level, they cannot eliminate all risk of failing to achieve its priorities and can therefore only provide reasonable and not

absolute assurance of its effectiveness. The systems of internal control are based on an ongoing process designed to

identify, evaluate and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Cleveland Fire Authority’s priorities, evaluate the

likelihood of those risks occurring, assess the impact should they be realised, and thereby manage them efficiently,

effectively and economically.

The Authority operates an Integrated Personal Development System and an associated Training and Education strategy

to ensure services are delivered by trained and experienced personnel. All posts have job descriptions and person

specifications and induction training is provided to all staff. All training is tailored to job needs/requirements based on an

annual needs assessment and analysis.

Financial services are provided to the Authority through a Service Level Agreement with Hartlepool Borough Council,

which includes the provision of the Treasurer. The Treasurer is responsible for ensuring the proper administration of the

Authority’s financial affairs and has a duty to report formally any adverse issues. The Treasurer reports annually to the

Audit and Governance Committee on how the Authority’s financial arrangements conform to the governance

requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2010). 

The Authority has appointed a Legal Adviser and Monitoring Officer who is responsible for ensuring that the Authority

acts within its legal powers at all times and has a duty to report formally any adverse issues.

An annual Service Plan, which encompasses the requirements of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 and

National Framework for Fire and Rescue Services in England 2012.

A Performance and Efficiency Report which provides information on the Authority’s performance, risk, finance and

efficiency over the previous 12 months.

An annual Statement of Assurance that provides the government and the public with assurance on our operational,

financial and governance arrangements.
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REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

·  

·  

·  

·  

·  

·  

Internal Audit reports from this plan are provided to the Director of Corporate Services and the Audit

and Governance Committee.

Annually the Head of Internal Audit at Hartlepool Borough Council provides an independent opinion on 

the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal financial control.

External Audit, as part of the Audit Completion Report, provide opinions on the corporate governance and

performance management arrangements in place within the CFA are provided. External audit also expresses an

opinion on the adequacy of Internal Audit work during the year.

The Authority strives for continuous improvement and as part of its Strategic Integrated Risk and Finance and Business 

planning cycle, outcomes from the Risk Management and Performance Management Frameworks assists the Authority to 

identify, prioritise and inform resource allocation decisions to drive continuous improvement in services.  

An Internal audit plan is formulated on a risk assessed basis on an annual basis.

Through this dynamic Risk Management Framework, risk assessment and management of risks is embedded into the 

Integrated Strategic, Risk and Financial Planning Framework which helps inform business and resource decisions. The 

Community Integrated Risk Management Plan 2018/2022 is the key output from this framework which links resources to 

our risks, strategic goals, aims and outcomes. To ensure services achieve the Authority’s goals, aims and outcomes and 

represent value for money, they are robustly measured and evaluated. 

A robust Performance Management Framework is in place which uses a traffic light system to indicate areas of

compliance and non-compliance. Improvement plans are produced on a risk basis to address areas of partial or full non-

compliance and any issues identified by Internal Audit and other external inspections. Performance management is

embedded and operates throughout the organisation. Performance outcomes are reported regularly to the Executive

Leadership Team, managers, staff and the public. On a quarterly basis detailed reports are reported to the Audit and

Governance Committee and then made publically available. This framework has been externally assessed and validated

by the Authority’s external auditors, Mazars to ensure it provides a realistic, reliable and transparent view of the

Authority’s performance.

Operates to CIPFA’s Code of Internal Audit Practice and the Institute of Internal Auditors’ Guidance

and Code of Ethics.

Procedures are in place that enables Internal Audit to report on a regular basis to the Audit and Governance Committee

on the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control and provide recommendations for improvement.

Internal Audit performance is measured against standards agreed by management and Elected Members. These

indicators were met for 2019/20.

Other review bodies external to the Authority also make regular reports on compliance with our statutory requirements, 

operational arrangements and the efficiency and effectiveness of the Authority. In 2018 the Government introduced an 

inspection framework for all Fire Services led by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services. The Brigade was inspected by the Inspectorate between May to July 2019 and achieved a rating of 'GOOD' for 

each of the three pillars of Effectiveness, Efficiency and People.. 

Internal Audit – the Treasurer of the Fire Authority has the responsibility for maintaining and reviewing the system 

of financial internal control.  In practice, the Fire Authority, and its External Auditor, actively use the assurance 

from the work of Internal Audit. In fulfilling this responsibility Internal Audit; 

On an annual basis, as prescribed in the National Framework for Fire and Rescue Services in England 2018 the Authority 

publishes its Annual Statement of Assurance which provides a summary and assurance on the operational, financial and 

governance arrangements within the Authority.

The arrangements that are in place for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control

include:

The Treasurer of the Fire Authority has the responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the internal control 

governance framework. The review of the effectiveness of internal control is informed by the work of Internal Audit and

Senior Managers who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control environment.

Additional information by external audit and other review agencies and inspectorates can also contribute to this review.

The Fire Authority has robust systems for identifying, evaluating and managing all significant risks. A Risk Management

Framework consisting of a risk management policy, procedure and systems are in place and embedded across the

organisation and communicated to all staff. A Community Risk Profile for the Authority’s area is produced and publically

available to staff and public detailing the foreseeable risks facing the Authority.
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Significant Governance Issues

Appendix 1

No. Issue Action

AGS1 · CSP1.4: set priorities and publish Service Plan 2021/22;

· CSP1.6: allocate resources to  manage the risks/deliver the services;

· CSP2.1:undertake budget and reserve adjustments 2020/21;

· CSP2.2: review Efficiency Plan;

· CSP2.3: review Reserve Strategy;

· CSP3.1: review Asset Management Plan.

AGS2 · DSP3.5: establish a programme of Local Agreement reviews;

· DSP3.18: review information governance policy.

AGS3 · CUOR1.1: further develop a collaboration and partnership register;

· CUOR1.2: develop a collaboration and partnership framework;

· CUOR2.1:  explore collaboration opportunities with other regional fire 

and rescue services for the provision of Special Appliances, Services 

and Capabilities;

· CUOR5.2: review the Brigade’s Occupational Health Services;

· CUOR5.3: review the Brigade’s Financial Management Services;

· CUOR5.4: review the Brigade’s Admin Services;

· CUOR5.5: review the Brigade’s Community, Partner and Staff 

Engagement Services;

· CUOR5.6:  review the Brigade’s Democratic Services;

· CUOR5.7: review the Brigade’s Security Services;

· CUOR5.8: review the Brigade’s Mechanical and Electrical maintenance 

Services;

· CUOR5.9: review the Brigade’s Catering Services;

· CUOR5.10: review the Brigade’s Ground Maintenance Services.

AGS4 · DSP1.1: prepare a HMICFRS Inspection Programme for Cleveland Fire 

Brigade; 

· DSP1.2: refresh the Brigade’s Self-Assessment;

· CSP1.3: evaluate effectiveness of  existing prevention, protection and 

emergency response services; 

ANNUAL REVIEW OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS : ACTION PLAN FOR 2020/21

The following actions have been identified to further improve our governance arrangements:

We have been advised about the implications to emerge from reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework

by the Audit and Governance Committee, and that the arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in

accordance with the governance framework.

During 2019/20 the Covid19 pandemic has had an impact on service delivery and the financial stability and risks of the

Brigade. Our robust risk management framework had identified the risk of a pandemic and thus we had preparations in

place for such an event. The following actions have been implemented in order to address the current pandemic.

The Brigade’s response to Covid is coordinated and managed through a Major Events Management Team (MEMT) that 

coordinates activities at a strategic and tactical level. We are a key member of the Local Resilience Forums and a Member 

of the TCG and SCG that coordinate a Cleveland wide response to Covid19. Business continuity plans  for all service 

areas have been in-acted and all activities supported by robust risk assessments. Daily information provided to National 

Fire Chiefs Council  National Resilience Assurance Team that provides Government with details on the impact of Covid 19 

on Fire and Rescue Services.

New humanitarian services have been developed and implemented in conjunction with other agencies. Safe working 

arrangements implemented at the Brigade in line with Government advice.  Staffing projections, financial implications 

and risks are being monitored, managed and monitored. Internal and external Communication strategy implemented

No other significant governance issues have been identified, however, in the interests of improving and developing

governance arrangements an action plan for further improvement has been developed (see Appendix 1). 

Promote greater partnership 

and collaborative working.

Reduce the overall cost base 

of the revenue budget in line 

with the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy.

Further Develop the 

Authority’s Performance 

Framework.

Develop Corporate 

Governance Arrangements.
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· DSSC2.1:  develop a quality assurance mechanism for our prevention 

activity;

· CUF2.1: establish an Evaluation Framework;

· DUF2.1: evaluate new working arrangements in Brigade Control Room;

· DUF2.2: evaluate the use of Small Fires Unit.

AGS5 · CSSC2.1: review and implement the Brigade’s risk based inspection 

programme;

· CSSC4.1: improve the stratification of risks associated with the most 

vulnerable people in our communities;

· CSSC4.2: review the targeting methodology for allocating resources to 

risk;

· DPPPIW2.1 implement Year 2 of the Brigade’s Health and Safety 

Strategy;

· CSP4.1: identify the risks associated with Climate Change.

AGS6
·

CPPPIW4.1:  confirm overall picture of workforce diversity compared to 

community and highlight areas of challenge/opportunity;

CPPPIW4.2:   establish a strategy and improvement plan that builds 

upon existing employment model to support increased diversity across 

the workforce;

·
DPPIW4.1: implement Year 3 actions within the Equality, Diversity and 

Inclusion Strategy.

AGS7 · CSP3.1: review Asset Management Plan;

· CSP3.2: implement 2020/21 Asset Management Plan;

· DUOR1.1: implement Year 2 of the Brigade’s Procurement Strategy.

CHAIR OF CLEVELAND FIRE AUTHORITY:

DATE: 16 October 2020

CHIEF FIRE OFFICER:

DATE: 16 October 2020

MONITORING OFFICER:

DATE: 16 October 2020

TREASURER TO THE CLEVELAND FIRE AUTHORITY:

DATE: 16 October 2020

Further develop the 

Authority’s Risk Framework.

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance our governance

arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in our

review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual review.

Further Develop the 

Authority’s Performance 

Framework.

Improvement/Value for 

Money 

Delivering against the 

Equality and Diversity 

statutory framework.
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Opinion

•

•

Basis for opinion

Emphasis of Matter – Effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on the valuation of Pension Fund property assets  

Conclusions relating to going concern

•

•

Other information 

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We draw attention to note 3 of the financial statements, which describes the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on the

valuation of the Authority’s share of Teesside Pension Fund’s directly owned property and pooled investment property

vehicle assets. As disclosed in note 3 of the financial statements, the Pension Fund’s valuations of these assets included

a ‘material valuation uncertainty’ declaration as a result of the circumstances that applied at the valuation date, which

meant that less certainty could be attached to the valuation than would otherwise be the case. Our opinion is not

modified in respect of this matter.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CLEVELAND FIRE 

AUTHORITY

We have audited the financial statements of Cleveland Fire Authority and its subsidiary (‘the Group’) for the year ended

31 March 2020, which comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Firefighter Pension Fund Account Statements, the Group

Movement in Reserves Statement, the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Group Balance

Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and

the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the financial position of Cleveland Fire Authority and the Group as at 31st March 

2020 and of the Authority’s and the Group’s expenditure and income for the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. We are

independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial

statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate

to provide a basis for our opinion.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to

you where:

the Treasurer’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 

not appropriate; or

the Treasurer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 

significant doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 

period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

The Treasurer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the

Statement of Accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial

statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we

do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or

apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial

statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude

that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Treasurer for the financial statements

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Code of Audit Practice

•

•

•

Conclusion

Basis for conclusion

Responsibilities of the Authority

We are required by the Code of Audit Practice to report to you if:

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;

we make a recommendation under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or

we exercise any other special powers of the auditor under sections 28, 29 or 31 of the Local Audit and

Accountability Act 2014.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting

Authority’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the

Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20, and for being satisfied

that they give a true and fair view. The Treasurer is also responsible for such internal control as the Treasurer

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with

ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The Treasurer is required to comply with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United

Kingdom 2019/20 and prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless the Authority is informed of the

intention for dissolution without transfer of services or function to another entity. The Treasurer is responsible for

assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the Authority to prepare its accounts on the going concern basis

and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. 

Conclusion on Cleveland Fire Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in

the use of resources

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor

General in April 2020, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, Cleveland Fire Authority has put in place proper

arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in

its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and

effectiveness of these arrangements. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and Auditor

General, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued in April 2020, as to whether the Authority had

proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and

sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as

that necessary for us to consider in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper arrangements for

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such

work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the Authority had put in place

proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
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Use of the audit report

Certificate

Gavin Barker, Director,

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP, 

Salvus House

Aykley Heads

Durham, DH1 5TS

Date:

We certify that we have completed the audit of Cleveland Fire Authority in accordance with the requirements of the Local

Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

This report is made solely to the members of Cleveland Fire Authority as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local

Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and

Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we

might state to the members of the Authority those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and

for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other

than the members of the Authority, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

We are required under section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that the

Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The

Code of Audit Practice requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements. We are not required

to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy,

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in the use of resources

07 December 2020
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Those principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an entity that specify how the effects of transactions

and other events are to be reflected in its financial statements through:

·         recognising;

·         selecting measurement bases for; and

·         presenting assets, liabilities, gains, losses and changes to reserves.

Accounting policies do not include estimation techniques.

Accounting policies define the process whereby transactions and other events are reflected in financial statements. For

example, an accounting policy for a particular type of expenditure may specify whether an asset or a loss is to be

recognised; the basis on which it is to be measured; and where in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

or Balance Sheet it is to be presented.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on the acquisition of an asset or expenditure that adds to and not merely maintains the value of an existing

asset.

COMMUNITY INTERGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (CIRMP)

The plan identifies the strategic issues to be addressed and how the Authority will address them over the medium term.

CODE OF PRACTICE ON LOCAL AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) Code sets out the accounting concepts and accounting

principles which underpin the statement of accounts.

CONSISTENCY
The principle that the accounting treatment of like items within an accounting period and from one period to the next is

the same.

CONSTRUCTIVE OBLIGATION

a) by an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement, the Authority

has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and

b) as a result, the Authority has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge those

responsibilities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
A contingent liability is either:

a) a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more

uncertain future events not wholly within the authority’s control or;

b) a present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be

required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

CREDITORS
Amounts owed by the Authority for work done, goods received or services rendered within the accounting period but for

which payment was not made at the balance sheet date.

CURRENT ASSETS
Assets which can be expected to be consumed or realised during the next accounting period, e.g. debtors and stocks.

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amounts which will become payable or could be called in within the next accounting period e.g. creditors, cash overdrawn.

CURRENT SERVICE COST (PENSIONS)
The increase in the present value of a defined benefit scheme’s liabilities expected to rise from employee service in the

current period.
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CURTAILMENT
For a defined benefit scheme, an event that reduces the expected years of future service of present employees or reduces

for a number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future service.  Curtailments include:

a) termination of employee’s services earlier than expected, for example as a result of closing a factory or discontinuing a

segment of a business; and 

b) termination of, or amendment to the terms of, a defined benefit scheme so that some or all future service by current

employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will qualify for only reduced benefits.

DEBTORS
Amounts due to the Authority for works done, goods received or services rendered before the end of the accounting

period, but for which payments have not been received by the end of that accounting period.

DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme. Usually, the scheme rules define

the benefits independently of the contributions payable and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of the

scheme.  The scheme may be funded or unfunded (including notionally funded).

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEME
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an employer pays regular contributions fixed as an amount or as

a percentage of pay and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not

have sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

DEPRECIATION
The measure of the cost or revalued amount of the benefits of the asset that have been consumed during the period.

Consumption includes the wearing out, using up or other reduction in the useful life of asset whether arising from use,

effluxion of time or obsolescence through either changes in technology or demand for the goods and services produced by

the asset.

DISCRETIONARY BENEFITS
Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to award and which are

awarded under the Authority’s discretionary powers, such as The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations

1996.

ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES
The methods adopted by an entity to arrive at estimated monetary amounts, corresponding to the measurement bases

selected, for assets, liabilities, gains losses and changes to reserves.

Estimation techniques implement the measurement aspects of accounting policies. An accounting policy will specify the

basis on which an item is to be measured; where there is uncertainty over the monetary amount corresponding to that

basis, the amount  will be arrived at by using an estimation technique.  Estimation techniques include, for example:

a) Methods of depreciation, such as straight-line and reducing balance, applied in the context of a particular

measurement basis, used to estimate the proportion of the economic benefits of an asset consumed in a period.

b) Difference methods used to estimate the proportion of debts that will not be recovered, particularly where such

methods consider a population as a whole rather than individual balances.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Events after the Balance Sheet date are events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the Balance Sheet date

and the date when the Statement of Accounts are authorised for issue.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Material items that derive from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Authority and which

need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their size or incidence to give fair presentation of the accounts.

EXPECTED RATE OF RETURN ON PENSION ASSETS
For a funded defined benefit scheme, the average rate of return, including both income and changes in fair value but net

of scheme expenses, expected over the remaining life of the related obligation on the actual assets held by the scheme.

FAIR VALUE
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction less, where applicable,

any grants receivable towards the purchase or use of the asset.
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FINANCE LEASE
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards

incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
A legally enforceable agreement between two or more parties, expressing a contractual right or a right to the payment of

money. Typical examples include investments, loans, trade creditors and trade debtors.

GOING CONCERN
The concept that the Authority will remain in operational existence for the foreseeable future, in particular that the

revenue accounts and Balance Sheet assume no intention to curtail significantly the scale of operations.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Assistance by Government and inter-government agencies and similar bodies, whether local, national or international, in

the form of cash or transfers of assets to an Authority in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions

relating to the activities of the Authority.

IMPAIRMENT
A reduction in the value of Property, Plant and Equipment below its carrying amount on the Balance Sheet.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Expenditure which may properly be capitalised, but which does not result in an asset with substance. Examples of this

type of expenditure are software and other licences, patents and trademarks and artistic originals.

INTEREST COST (PENSIONS)
For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period is the present value of the scheme liabilities

because the benefits are one period closer to settlement.

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (IAS)
These standards are developed by the International Accounting Standards Board and regulate the preparation and

presentation of financial statements.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)
A set of international accounting standards stating how particular types of transactions and other events should be

reported in financial statements.  IFRS are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

INVENTORIES
The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use. When use will not arise until a later

period, it is appropriate to carry forward the amount to be matched to the use or consumption when it arises.  

Inventories comprise the following categories:

·         goods or other assets purchased for resale;

·         consumable stores;

·         raw materials and components purchased for incorporation into products for sale;

·         products and services in intermediate stages of completion;

·         long term contract balances; and

·         finished goods.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

INVESTMENTS (PENSIONS FUND)
The investments of the Pensions Fund will be accounted for in the statements of that fund. However, authorities are also

required to disclose, as part of the disclosures relating to retirement benefits, the attributable share of Pension Scheme

assets associated with their underlying obligations.

LIQUID RESOURCES
Current asset investments that are readily disposable by the Authority without disrupting its business and are either

readily convertible to known amounts of cash at or close to the carrying amount, or traded in an active market.

Interest in land and/or buildings:

a)  in respect of which construction work and development have been completed; and 

b)  which is held for its investment potential, any rental income being negotiated at arm’s length.
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MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP)
The statutory minimum amount that authorities must set aside each year as provision for debt repayment based on the

Capital Financing Requirement.

NET BOOK VALUE
The amount at which assets are included in the Balance Sheet, that is their historical cost of current value less the

cumulative amounts provided for depreciation.

NET CURRENT REPLACEMENT COST
The cost of replacing or recreating the particular asset in its existing condition and in its existing use, that is the cost of its

replacement or of the nearest equivalent asset adjusted to reflect the current condition of the existing asset.

NET REALISABLE VALUE
The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or open market value in the case of non-operational assets), less

the expenses to be incurred in realising the asset.

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Assets that yield benefits to the Authority, and the services it provides, for a period of more than one year.

OPERATING LEASES
A lease other than a finance lease.

OPERATIONAL ASSETS
Assets held and occupied, used or consumed by the Authority in the direct delivery of those services for which it has either

a statutory or discretionary responsibility or for the service or strategic objectives of the Authority.

PAST SERVICE COST
For a defined benefit scheme, the increase in the present value of the scheme liabilities related to employee service in

prior periods arising in the current period as a result of the introduction of, or improvement to, retirement benefits.

PROJECTED UNIT METHOD
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make allowance for projected earnings. An accrued

benefits valuation method is a valuation method in which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate to:

a) the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased to be active members but are

entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their dependants, allowing where appropriate for future increases; and

b)  the accrued benefits for members in service of the valuation date.

The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested rights or not.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
This covers all assets with physical substance that are for use in the production or supply of goods and services, for rental

to others, or for administrative purposes, and expected to be used during more than one period.

PROVISION
Funds set aside to cover potential liabilities or losses which are likely or certain to be incurred at a future date but where

the exact amount and timing of the liability or loss is currently not known.

RELATED PARTIES
Two or more parties are related parties when at any time during the financial period:

·         one party has direct or indirect control of the other party; or

·         the parties are subject to common control from the same source; or 

·         one party has influence over the financial and operational policies of the other party to an extent

          that the other party might be inhibited from pursuing at all times its own separate interests; or

·         the parties, in entering a transaction, are subject to influence from the same source to such an 

          extent that one of the parties to the transaction has subordinated its own separate interests.

Examples of related parties of an Authority include:

·         Central Government;

·         Local Authorities and other bodies precepting or levying demands on the Council Tax;

·         its subsidiary and associated companies;

·         its joint ventures and joint venture partners;
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·         its Councillors;

·         its Chief Fire Officer and Directors; and 

·         its Pension Fund.

Examples of related parties of a pension fund include its:

·         administering Authority and its related parties;

·         scheduled bodies and their related parties; and 

·         Trustees and Advisors.

These lists are not intended to be comprehensive.

For individuals identified as related parties, the following are also presumed to be related parties:

·         members of the close family, or the same household; and

·         partnerships, companies, trusts or other entities in which the individual, or a member of their close 

          family or the same household, has a controlling interest.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of services by, to or for a related party

irrespective of whether a charge is made.  Examples of related party transactions include:

·        the purchase, sale, lease, rental or hire of assets between related parties;

·          the provision by a pension fund to a related party of assets of loans, irrespective of any direct 

         economic benefit to the Pension Fund;

·          the provision of a guarantee to a third party in relation to a liability or obligation of a related party;

·          the provision of services to a related party, including the provision of pension fund administration services;

·           transactions with individuals who are related parties of an authority or a pension fund, except

         those applicable to other members of the community or the pension fund, such as Council Tax,

         Rents and payment of benefits.

This list is not intended to be comprehensive.

The materiality of related party transactions should be judged not only in terms of their significance to the Authority, but

also in relation to its related party.

REMEASUREMENT OF DEFINED LIABILITY
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise because:

·         events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation (experience gains 

          or losses); or

·         the actuarial assumptions have changed.

REMUNERATION
All sums paid to or receivable by an employee and sums due by way of expenses allowances (as far as those sums are

chargeable to UK income tax) and the money value of any other benefits received other than in cash. Pension

contributions payable by the employer are excluded.

RESERVES
The accumulation of surpluses, deficits and appropriations over past years. Reserves of a revenue nature are available

and can be spent or earmarked at the discretion of the Authority. Some capital reserves such as the Revaluation Reserve

cannot be used to meet current expenditure.

RESIDUAL VALUE
The net realisable value of an asset at the end of its useful life. Residual values are based on prices prevailing at the date

of the acquisition (or revaluation) of the asset and do not take account of expected future price changes.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by employees that are payable after

completion of employment.  Retirement benefits do not include termination costs payable as a result of either:

·          an employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or 

·          an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits, 

          because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by employees.

SCHEME LIABILITIES
The liabilities of a defined benefit scheme for outgoings due after the valuation date. Scheme liabilities measured using

the projected unit method reflect the benefits that the employer is committed to provide for service up to the valuation

date.
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SERVICE REPORTING CODE OF PRACTICE
A Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guide to accounting for local government services which

provides a consistent and comparable calculation of the total costs of services.

SETTLEMENT
An irrecoverable action that relieves the employer (or the defined benefit scheme) of the primary responsibility for a

pension obligation and eliminates significant risks relating to the obligation and the assets used to effect the settlement.

Settlements include:

·          a lump-sum cash payment to scheme members in exchange for their rights to receive specified

         pension benefits;

·         the purchase of an irrecoverable annuity contract sufficient to cover vested benefits; and

·          the transfer of scheme assets and liabilities relating to a group of employees leaving the scheme.

USEFUL LIFE
The period over which the Authority will derive benefits from the use of an asset.

FURTHER INFORMATION 
Copies of this document can also be provided on audiotape or in large print, Braille and ethnic minority languages on

request. We can also be contacted via Typetalk and enquiries in any language can be dealt with in person or on the

telephone using Language Line instant translation service.
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